**Regular Article - Theoretical Physics** 



# Shadow, lensing, quasinormal modes, greybody bounds and neutrino propagation by dyonic ModMax black holes

Reggie C. Pantig<sup>1,a</sup>, Leonardo Mastrototaro<sup>2,3,b</sup>, Gaetano Lambiase<sup>2,3,c</sup>, Ali Övgün<sup>4,d</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Physics Department, Mapúa University, 658 Muralla St., Intramuros, 1002 Manila, Philippines

<sup>2</sup> Dipartimento di Fisica "E.R Caianiello", Universit degli Studi di Salerno, Via Giovanni Paolo II, 132-84084 Fisciano, SA, Italy

<sup>3</sup> Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Gruppo Collegato di Salerno, Sezione di Napoli, Via Giovanni Paolo II, 132-84084 Fisciano, SA, Italy

<sup>4</sup> Physics Department, Eastern Mediterranean University, via Mersin 10, 99628 Famagusta, North Cyprus, Turkey

Received: 29 August 2022 / Accepted: 11 December 2022 / Published online: 21 December 2022  $\circledcirc$  The Author(s) 2022

Abstract Motivated by recent work on the Modified Maxwell (ModMax) black holes [Phys Lett B 10.1016/j.phy sletb.2020.136011], which are invariant in duality rotations and conformal transformations founded in [Phys Rev D 10.1103/PhysRevD.102.121703], we probe its effects on the shadow cast, weak field gravitational lensing, and neutrino propagation in its vicinity. Using the EHT data for the shadow diameter of Sgr. A\* and M87\*, and LIGO/VIRGO experiments for the dyonic ModMax black hole perturbations, we find constraints for ModMax parameters such as  $Q_{\rm m}$  and the screening factor  $\gamma$ . We also analyze how the shadow radius behaves as perceived by a static observer and one that is comoving with the cosmic expansion. The effect of the ModMax parameters is constant for a static observer, and we found That it varies when the observer is comoving with cosmic expansion. We also analyzed its effect on the weak deflection angle by exploiting the Gauss-Bonnet theorem and its application to Einstein ring formation. We also consider the finite distance effect and massive particle deflection. Our results indicate that the far approximation of massive particle gives the largest deflection angle and amplifies the effect of  $Q_{\rm m}$  and  $\gamma$ . Then we also calculate the quasinormal modes and greybody bounds which encode unique characteristic features of the dyonic ModMax black hole. With the advent of improving space technology, we reported that it is possible to detect the deviation caused through the shadow cast, Einstein rings, quasinormal modes, and neutrino oscillations.

#### Contents

1 Introduction	1			
2 Dyonic ModMax black holes	3			
3 Shadow cast	3			
3.1 Behavior of the shadow due to a co-moving				
observer	6			
4 Deflection angle using Gauss-Bonnet theorem in				
weak field limits	8			
5 Spherically infalling accretion	11			
Quasinormal modes of dyonic ModMax black holes 12				
Bounds of greybody factors and high-energy absorp-				
tion cross-section	16			
8 Effects on neutrino	17			
8.1 Flavour oscillation	17			
8.2 Spin oscillation	19			
9 Conclusions	20			
References	22			

#### **1** Introduction

One of the most important problems in Einstein's theory of general relativity is the singularities at the beginning of the universe and black hole solutions. There are similar singularities in Maxwell's theory of Electrodynamics [1]. To avoid these singularities, firstly, Born–Infeld (BI) modified the Maxwell theory of electrodynamics in 1934, which is also relativistic and gauge-invariant theory, known as BI nonlinear electrodynamics (NED) [2]. In BI NED, the self-energy of charges is finite. Moreover, the effective action of BI NED can also be derived from open superstrings at low energy dynamics of D-branes, without any physical singularities, [1,3]. Another example is Euler–Heisenberg (EH) NED, which occurs due to the polarization of the vacuum [4]. Both

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> e-mail: rcpantig@mapua.edu.ph

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>e-mail: lmastrototaro@unisa.it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> e-mail: lambiase@sa.infn.it (corresponding author)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>e-mail: ali.ovgun@emu.edu.tr

BI NED and EH NED (which are SO(2) electric-magnetic duality invariant) reduce to the Maxwell electrodynamics in the weak field regime because of the fixed energy scale interactions which break the conformal invariance. Afterwards, based on the Einstein-NED theories, the regular black hole solutions were obtained, with freedom of duality rotations [5–7]. Recently authors in [8] constructed a generalization of Maxwell electrodynamics known as ModMax electrodynamics which has a low-energy limit of a one dimensionless parameter generalization of BI, and  $\gamma = 0$  condition gives Maxwell's equations. Recently, Flores-Alfonso et al. have found new black hole solutions in ModMax electrodynamics [9]. The SO(2) invariance for electric and magnetic fields gives us the dyonic solutions. The effect of ModMax electrodynamics on black hole spacetimes via screening factor  $\gamma$ shields the actual charges. Then ModMax electrodynamics have been considered by many authors [10-30].

One of the most striking features of a compact object such as a black hole is the gravitational bending of light in its vicinity. It introduces the innermost region for photon orbit, which is unstable, and any perturbation will cause photons to spiral into the black hole or escape to infinity. These photons that escape to infinity determine the shadow cast perceived by an observer at infinity. The Event Horizon Telescope Collaboration's [31,32] experimental findings revealed the first image of the black holes M87\* and Sgr. A\*, which demonstrates the existence of a black hole shadow that was theoretically studied by [33,34]. While the literature on the study of shadow cast is quite exhaustive before and after the release of the black hole image by the EHT, it leaves no doubt about the importance of studying the black hole shadow since it reveals imprints of the spacetime being considered, and the effects of any type of astrophysical environments [35–59]. It led to various methods being developed to explore such effects [60–68]. This study aims to constrain the screening factor  $\gamma$ using the EHT data and explore how the shadow cast/radius behaves. We will also analyze a more realistic scenario, the shadow cast as perceived by a non-static observer, that comoves with the cosmic expansion. Finally, we extend the situation to different cosmological models.

According to Einstein's theory of general relativity, masses deflect light in a way similar to convex glass lenses known as gravitational lensing, which is a powerful tool to test alternative gravity theories [69–74]. In astrophysics, distances play a dominant role in determining the properties of astrophysical objects. Contrary to this, Virbhadra showed that just observation of relativistic images (no information about the masses and distances are required) gives an incredibly accurate value for the upper bound to the compactness of massive dark objects [75]. Moreover, Virbhadra hypothesized that there exists a distortion parameter such that the signed sum of all images of singular gravitational lensing of a source identically vanishes by testing this with images of

Schwarzschild lensing in weak and strong gravitational fields [76].

Although there are many methods to calculate weak deflection angle, Gibbons and Werner proposed an alternative method to calculate it by applying the Gauss–Bonnet theorem (GBT) on the optical metric of the asymptotically flat black holes [77]. Werner then improved this method for rotating spacetimes such as Kerr black hole [78]. Afterwards, this method was applied to various asymptotically flat spacetimes and was also extended to non-asymptotically flat spacetimes [39–48,79–92].

Detection of the gravitational waves by LIGO/VIRGO collaborations opens a new gate in black hole physics. The gravitational waves provide the characteristic vibration modes of black holes (complex frequency of damped oscillations) or imprint of the black holes, independent of what exactly excited the modes), which are known as quasinormal modes (QNMs). In the 1950s, the pioneering work on black hole perturbations was done by Regge and Wheeler [93] and then by Zerilli [94]. In the 1960s, Thorne studied the perturbations of relativistic stars in GR [95,96]. First, Vishveshware imagined and studied the QNMs of the Schwarzschild black hole by calculating the scattering of gravitational waves [97]. Then Press used the term of quasinormal frequencies (QNF) [98]. Afterwards, Davis et al. showed how to obtain QNM oscillations from the infalling particle into Schwarzschild black hole [99] and Detweiler et al. showed for Kerr black holes [100]. Black hole perturbations and QNMs are a wellstudied and active field to study, and there are various methods on different spacetimes in literature (for more information [101–116], see these reviews [117–119]). The QNMs could be detected through the gravitational wave interferometers, so we would like to explore the properties of background spacetime of ModMax black holes and try to probe the ModMax BH parameters by studying gravitational waves (GWs) at the ringdown stage.

In 1974 Hawking showed that there are 'grey holes' and not black holes because of their radiation, which is impossible classically for ingoing particles [120]. The quantum field theory calculations near the black hole's horizon provide the emission of quantum radiation due to the creation and annihilation of particles. The Hawking radiation is moving on a curved spacetime (as a potential barrier) so that some radiations are reflected into the black hole and the rest travel to spatial infinity [121]. These deviations from the blackbody radiation spectrum, as seen by an asymptotic observer, are known as the grey-body factor, which is a synonym for transmission probability [110, 122–128], and there are various methods to calculate it. One can use the matching technique [129], the WKB approximation [130] or the rigorous bound [131,132]. On the other hand, in 1968, Matzner studied the absorption and scattering of a massive scalar field from hitting a black hole [133]; hence he showed that the total cross-section for the absorption process vanishes. In 1978 Sanchez calculated the absorption spectrum of the Schwarzschild black hole and obtained the total absorption cross section in the Hawking formula [134]. Sanchez showed that the absorption spectrum as a function of the frequency makes clear oscillations characteristic of a diffraction pattern, where the oscillations occur around the constant value of the geometrical optics with decreasing amplitude and constant period. The absorption cross-section for black holes has been studied in the literature for various black hole spacetimes [46,108,135–146], especially for the low-frequency behaviour of the absorption and for the zero-frequency limit (it becomes equal to the surface area of the black hole horizon) [136,147,148], as well as the high-frequency behaviour of the scalar absorption via Sinc approximation [134,149,150].

In this paper, we also investigate the propagation of neutrinos in dyonic ModMax BH. We focus, in particular, on the neutrino flavour oscillation and spin-flip of neutrinos when they scatter off BH. Clear evidence that neutrinos may oscillate in different flavours comes from experiments on neutrinos [151–153]. These experiments indicate that neutrinos are massive particles and, therefore, that physics beyond the Standard Model is required to incorporate the neutrino particle properly. An important aspect related to the properties of neutrinos is their interaction with external fields. These interactions can be either electromagnetic or gravitational. In these cases, the formulas of the oscillation probabilities of mixed neutrinos (different flavours) are affected by the external field, compared to the formulas computed in vacuum [154]. For example, the interactions of neutrinos with external electromagnetic fields may induce the so-called spin oscillation and/or spin-flavour oscillations, that is a helicity transition of neutrinos with different helicities [155]. It is also well known the gravitational interaction or propagation of neutrinos in the curved background can affect the neutrino oscillations probability, or induce the change of the polarization of a spinning particle [156–176]. In this paper we study the neutrino oscillation probability for neutrinos propagating in dyonic ModMax BH. We also study helicity transitions of neutrinos, hence the transition  $v_{fL} \rightarrow v_{fR}$ , where  $f = e, \mu\tau$ , corresponding to the case in which neutrino flavour remains fixed (the generic case of neutrino spinflavour oscillations has been studied in [177]). This analysis is important because neutrinos are produced with a fixed left-handed polarization in the Standard Model so that if a transition to right-handed polarization occurs, these neutrinos become sterile (they interact only gravitationally). As a consequence, a detector would register a different neutrino flux, providing in such a way a signature of the coupling of neutrinos with the gravitational background. Here we shall consider only the gravitational field described by ModMax BH.

Our work's layout is as follows: Sect. 3 is devoted to investigating the shadow cast behaviour and the effect of a comoving observer. In Sect. 4, we analyzed the behaviour of the weak deflection angle of both massive and null particles. Then, in Sects. 5–7, we study the effect of the screening parameter on the spherical infalling accretion, quasinormal modes, and bounds of the greybody factors. Finally, in Sect. 8, we investigate its effect on neutrino oscillations. In particular, we focus on the neutrino flavour and spin transition in the background described by a dyonic ModMax BH. We shortly analyzed also the effect on nucleosynthesis processes. Conclusions are discussed in Sect. 9. Throughout this paper, we used geometrized units G = c = 1, and the metric signature (-, +, +, +).

#### 2 Dyonic ModMax black holes

In this section, we study the spherically symmetric metric of Dyonic ModMax black hole solutions derived in [9] as follows;

$$ds^{2} = -f(r)dt^{2} + \frac{1}{f(r)}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega,$$
(1)

where  $d\Omega := d\theta^2 + \sin^2 \theta d\phi^2$  and  $(t, r, \theta, \phi)$  with the metric function:

$$f_{\rm dyon}(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} + \frac{(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2)e^{-\gamma}}{r^2}.$$
 (2)

We plot the above metric function shown in Fig. 1. Here, we can see theoretically that only a single horizon is formed for the Schwarzschild case, while there are inner and outer horizons for the RN case when  $Q_e = 0.75M$ . As the plot indicates, we can observe how the screening parameter affects these null boundaries. The event horizon of the ModMax black hole is located at:

$$r_{\pm} = M \pm \sqrt{M^2 - Q_{\rm e}^2 e^{-\gamma}}.$$
 (3)

Note that the mass must always be larger than the charge; however, it is not valid for the case of the ModMax black hole because, in the extremal case of the ModMax black hole, it occurs at  $r_+ = r_-$ :

$$M_{\rm ext} = |Q_{\rm e}|e^{-\gamma/2},\tag{4}$$

so that  $\gamma > 0$ , then  $M_{\text{ext}} < |Q_{\text{m}}|$ ; similarly with non-linear electrodynamics [178, 179].

#### 3 Shadow cast

In this section, we first analyze the behaviour of the ModMax black hole's shadow as the screening parameter  $\gamma$  varies. Since spacetime has spherical symmetry, we can analyze null



Fig. 1 Plot of the f(r), which reveals the location of the inner and outer horizons due to the dyonic ModMax black hole. Here,  $Q_m = 0.25M$ 

geodesics  $\theta = \pi/2$ , along the equatorial plane. To derive the null particle's equation of motion, consider the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \left( -A(r)\dot{t} + B(r)\dot{r} + C(r)\dot{\phi} \right), \tag{5}$$

where we wrote A(r) = f(r), B(r) = 1/f(r) and  $C(r) = r^2$ . With the least action principle, two constants of motion can be derived:

$$E = A(r)\frac{dt}{d\lambda}, \quad L = C(r)\frac{d\phi}{d\lambda},$$
 (6)

where we can define a useful constant called the impact parameter:

$$b \equiv \frac{L}{E} = \frac{C(r)}{A(r)} \frac{d\phi}{dt}.$$
(7)

Going back to the metric,  $ds^2 = 0$  for null geodesics allows us to derive how the *r* changes with  $\phi$ . In other words,

$$\left(\frac{dr}{d\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{C(r)}{B(r)} \left(\frac{h(r)^2}{b^2} - 1\right),\tag{8}$$

where we have defined

$$h(r)^2 = \frac{C(r)}{A(r)}.$$
(9)

With the above function, one can solve or locate the photonsphere radii via h'(r) = 0 where the prime denotes the derivative with respect to r. For our case, we obtained

$$r_{\rm ph} = \frac{3M}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{9M^2 - 8\left(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2\right)e^{-\gamma}}.$$
 (10)

A non-rotating black hole, such as in this study, only produces a circular shadow silhouette. The shadow is caused by photons escaping the photonsphere due to tiny perturbations. In the Schwarzschild case, in particular,  $r_{\rm ph} = 3M$ , while the shadow radius is  $R_{\rm sh} = 3\sqrt{3}M$ . It is important to note that this shadow radius coincides with the critical impact parameter  $b_{\rm crit}$ . In some situations, if the cosmological constant is considered, this is not the case since the photons are affected by the astrophysical environment as it travels toward the receiver, usually a remote and static observer [62].

Considering the static observer and following the formalism found in Ref. [62], a careful inspection of the line element and situation allows us to define

$$\tan(\alpha_{\rm sh}) = \lim_{\Delta x \to 0} \frac{\Delta y}{\Delta x} = \left(\frac{C(r)}{B(r)}\right)^{1/2} \frac{d\phi}{dr}\Big|_{r=r_{\rm obs}},\tag{11}$$

or, written in another way,

$$\cot^{2}(\alpha_{\rm sh}) = \left(\frac{B(r)}{C(r)}\right) \left(\frac{dr}{d\phi}\right)^{2} \bigg|_{r=r_{\rm obs}}.$$
(12)

With the orbit equation and elementary trigonometry, it is easy to see that

$$\sin^2(\alpha_{\rm sh}) = \frac{b_{\rm crit}^2}{h(r_{\rm obs})^2},\tag{13}$$

where  $b_{\text{crit}}$  is associated with the photonsphere radius. It can be derived by satisfying the condition  $d^2r/d\phi^2 = 0$  and imposing  $r \rightarrow r_{\text{ph}}$ :

$$b_{\text{crit}}^{2} = \frac{h(r)}{[B'(r)C(r) - B(r)C'(r)]} \bigg[ h(r)B'(r)C(r) - h(r)B(r)C'(r) - 2h'(r)B(r)C(r) \bigg],$$
(14)

where in our case yields

$$b_{\rm crit}^2 = \frac{3r_{\rm ph}^3}{r_{\rm ph} - M}.$$
 (15)

Using Eqs. (9), (10), and (15) to Eq. (13), we obtain an exact formula for the shadow radius as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\rm sh} = r_{\rm ph} \left[ 2 \left( 1 - \frac{2M}{r_{\rm obs}} + \frac{(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2) e^{-\gamma}}{r_{\rm obs}^2} \right) \left( 1 - \frac{M}{r_{\rm ph}} \right)^{-1} \right]^{1/2}.$$
(16)

Let us first discuss the observational constraint of the screening parameter using the obtained data from M87\* [31] and Sgr. A\* [32]. First and foremost, these astrophysical



Fig. 2 Observational constraints. Left: Sgr. A\*, right: M87\*. The same plot appearance is obtained for  $Q_{\rm m} < 0$ 

black holes are indeed rotating. However, as pointed out in Ref. [180], the constraints for the spin parameter a on Sgr. A\* is not clear, but recent constraints place the spin parameter at  $a \leq 0.1M$  due to the impact of frame-dragging precession on the orbit of S-stars [181]. Similar uncertainties for the spin of M87 are also present: Using accretion physics, recent estimates have shown that 0.20 < a < 0.50 [182]. Other authors [183] reported that through the measurements of the average power of the relativistic jet and using the upper limit of mass accretion rate for black holes in general relativistic magnetohydrodynamic models of jet formation, the spin parameter of M87\* would likely fall from  $a \ge 0.40M$  for the prograde case, and  $a \ge 0.50M$  for the retrograde case. It was also shown in Ref. [180] that slow spin does not affect the shadow radius dramatically, and  $a \sim 0$  can be safely assumed for constraining parameters coming from different black hole models. Finally, astrophysical black holes such as these are more likely to contain no charge due to the neutralization process of the accreting ionized plasma. In Ref. [184], constraints indicate that  $Q_{\rm m}/M$  can be very close to zero. Nonetheless, in the following analysis, we will assume the role played by  $Q_e$  and  $Q_m$ , as well as the parameter  $\gamma$ . We will analyze the Modmax black hole for low and average values of  $Q_{\rm e}$ . Finally, we need to remark that we will only analyze the *classical* shadow silhouette, where its boundary is dominated by the glowing accretion disk causing it to become invisible. The dark spot in the EHT image of M87\* and Sgr. A\* is the imprint of the event horizon's shadow. It is caused by highly redshifted escaping photons coming from accreting matter near the event horizon. As a result, this shadow is smaller than the classical shadow [65].

According to the seminal EHT papers [31,32], the reported classical shadow angular diameter is  $\theta_{M87*} = 42 \pm 3 \mu as$ . Other parameters are the distance of the M87\* from the Earth, which is D = 16.8 Mpc, and the mass of the M87\*

is  $M_{\rm M87^*} = 6.5 \pm 0.90 \times 10^9 \ M_{\odot}$ . For Sgr. A\* the angular shadow diameter is  $\theta_{\rm Sgr. A^*} = 48.7 \pm 7 \ \mu$ as (EHT), the distance of the Sgr. A\* from the Earth is  $D = 8277 \pm 33$  pc and the mass of the black hole is  $M_{\rm Sgr. A^*} = 4.3 \pm 0.013 \times 10^6 M_{\odot}$  (VLTI). Let us now calculate the diameter of the shadow size in units of the black hole mass using

$$d_{\rm sh} = \frac{D\theta}{M},\tag{17}$$

which is just the standard arc-length formula. Meanwhile, the theoretical shadow diameter can be obtained via  $d_{\rm sh}^{\rm theo} = 2\mathcal{R}_{\rm sh}$ . Therefore, by using Eq. (17), we get the diameter of the shadow image of M87\* and Sgr. A\* as  $d_{\rm sh}^{\rm M87*} = (11\pm1.5)M$ , and  $d_{\rm sh}^{\rm Sgr. A*} = (9.5\pm1.4)M$  respectively.

In Fig. 2, we plotted the allowed values of  $Q_m$  while maintaining the screening parameter  $\gamma$  fixed. Such a plot will give how the shadow diameter behaves at our location from Sgr. A\* and M87\* as we vary  $Q_e$  and  $Q_m$ . We included a very small value for  $Q_e$  to represent the notion that these astrophysical black holes may contain a negligible charge. We see that if  $\gamma = 1$ , it amplifies the effect of  $Q_e$  and  $Q_m$ , in contrast with  $\gamma = -1$ . Nevertheless, we observe how  $\gamma$  affects the curve. An important observation of this plot is that as  $\gamma$ decreases, the line becomes more curved, allowing smaller values of  $\pm Q_m$  within the  $1\sigma$  uncertainty. It is also worth noting that if  $Q_e$  is close to zero, the value of  $\gamma$  is irrelevant when  $Q_m$  is also close to zero. While it happens above the mean for Sgr. A\*, it happens below the mean for M87\*. As a result, the range for  $Q_m$  at  $1\sigma$  level is lesser than Sgr. A\*.

Let us now plot how a static observer, at different points  $r_{obs}$ , will perceive the shadow size of Sgr. A\* and M87\*. We plotted this in Fig. 3, along with the Schwarzschild and RN cases, where Q = 0.10M to see its effect. Our current position from these SMBHs is represented in the right inset plot, where we zoomed in on the effects of the screening parameter  $\gamma$  and  $Q_{\rm m}$ , manifest in visuals in Fig. 2. The pattern

is the same for M87\*, except that we are much farther. Such a similarity is expected because the ModMax parameters have no dependence on *r*. Finally, it is interesting how the shadow behaves near the black hole, where we can see an abrupt increase in the shadow radius until  $r_{obs}/M \sim 316$ . The case where  $\gamma < 0$  shows that the shadow forms early or nearer the event horizon, compared to the case where  $\gamma > 0$ . However, as  $r_{obs}$  increases,  $\gamma > 0$  gives a larger shadow. The point where the curves intersect is also interesting, for it represents that  $\theta_{sh} = \pi/2$ , indicating that in such a location, half of the sky is dark [62].

#### 3.1 Behavior of the shadow due to a co-moving observer

In reality, observers are not static. Thus, this study aims to investigate the effect of the screening parameter on the shadow perceived by an observer co-moving with the cosmological expansion of the Universe. Here, we apply the recent formalism in Ref. [60], first focusing on the dark energydominated Universe. Then, we also extend the analysis to matter and radiation-dominated Universes.

An observer in a co-moving frame is better understood using the McVittie metric. According to Ref. [185], we can find that

$$ds^{2} = -\left[\frac{1 - \frac{M^{2}}{4a(t)^{2}r^{2}} + \frac{(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma}}{4a(t)^{2}r^{2}}}{\left(1 + \frac{M}{2a(t)r}\right)^{2} - \frac{(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma}}{4a(t)^{2}r^{2}}}\right]^{2}dt^{2} + a(t)^{2}\left[\left(1 + \frac{M}{2a(t)r}\right)^{2} - \frac{(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma}}{4a(t)^{2}r^{2}}\right]^{2} \times (dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2}),$$
(18)

where  $d\Omega^2 = \sin^2 \vartheta d\varphi^2 + d\vartheta^2$ , and  $a(t) = e^{H_0 t}$  is the scale factor. In addition,  $H_0$  is the present value of the Hubble constant. The relation between the cosmological constant  $\Lambda$  and  $H_0$  is

$$\Lambda = 3H_0^2. \tag{19}$$

At present,  $\Lambda = 1.1056 \times 10^{-52} \text{ m}^{-2}$ , which makes the distance of the cosmological horizon to be  $d_{\text{cosmo}} = 9.51 \times 10^{25}$  m. Note the time dependence of Eq. (18), but such dependence is negligible if one is near the black hole. Being near means comparing the distance of the black hole to the observer and the cosmological horizon. Indeed, even if we are so far to M87\* or Sgr. A\*, our distances from these black holes are so small compared to the scale of the cosmological horizon. Then by [60],  $t_0 - t << H_0^{-1}$ . Thus, as  $a(t) \sim a(t_0) = \text{constant}$  and using  $x = a(t_0)r$ , we can recast Eq. (18) as

$$ds^{2} = -\left[\frac{1 - \frac{M^{2}}{4x^{2}} + \frac{(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma}}{4x^{2}}}{\left(1 + \frac{M}{2x}\right)^{2} - \frac{(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma}}{4x^{2}}}\right]^{2} dt^{2} + \left[\left(1 + \frac{M}{2x}\right)^{2} - \frac{(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma}}{4x^{2}}\right]^{2} \times (dx^{2} + x^{2}d\Omega^{2}),$$
(20)

which is the RN black hole within isotropic coordinates. Introducing

$$R = x \left( 1 + \frac{2M}{x} - \frac{(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2)e^{-\gamma}}{x^2} \right)^2,$$
(21)

where in the weak field limit (M,  $Q_e$ ,  $Q_m \sim 0$ ),  $R \sim x$ , we recover a form similar to the RN metric:

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2M}{R} + \frac{(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma}}{R^{2}}\right)dt^{2} + \frac{dR^{2}}{\left(1 - \frac{2M}{R} + \frac{(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma}}{R^{2}}\right)} + R^{2}d\Omega^{2}.$$
 (22)

Let the present time be  $t_0$  where the observer is at some radial position  $r_{in}$ , who observes the black hole shadow in the strong field regime. Here, the subscript "in" indicates the inner region. Then we should have  $x_{in} = a(t_0)r_{in}$  and using these, Eq. (21) can be recast as

$$R_{\rm in} = x_{\rm in} \left( 1 + \frac{2M}{x_{\rm in}} - \frac{(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2)e^{-\gamma}}{x_{\rm in}^2} \right)^2.$$
(23)

Then using Eq. (22), an observer co-moving with the spacetime in Eq. (20) will then observe the shadow radius  $\mathcal{R}_{in}$  as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\rm in} = R_{\rm in} \sin \alpha_{\rm comov} = r_{\rm ph} \left[ \frac{2 \left( 1 - \frac{2M}{R_{\rm in}} + \frac{(Q_{\rm c}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2)e^{-\gamma}}{R_{\rm in}^2} \right)}{1 - \frac{M}{r_{\rm ph}}} \right]^{1/2}$$
(24)

where  $r_{\rm ph}$  is still given by Eq. (10). We note that Eq. (24) is the "inner" solution to the shadow radius where the effect of the cosmological expansion is considered negligible.

Next, we consider the solution to the outer region in the weak field regime of the black hole while considering a stronger effect of the cosmological expansion. It is easy to see how Eq. (18) will reduce to an FRW metric in such a case:

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a(t)^{2}(dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2}).$$
(25)



Fig. 3 Behavior of shadow radius for a static observer located at  $r_{obs}$ . Left: Sgr. A\*. Right: M87\*. Here, we have chosen  $Q_m = 0.10M$ , which fits the constrained values in Fig. 2. The shadow behaviour for M87\* follows the same pattern

In this spacetime, it is well-known that the effective linear shadow radius  $L_{\rm sh}$ , now applied to the shadow, is given in terms of the angular size of the black hole shadow  $\Psi_{\rm cosmo}$  as

$$L_{\rm sh} = \Psi_{\rm cosmo} D_{\rm A}(z), \tag{26}$$

where

$$D_{\rm A}(z) = \frac{1}{1+z} \int_0^z \frac{dk}{H(k)},$$
(27)

and

$$H(k) = H_0 [\Omega_{\text{mat}}(1+k)^3 + \Omega_{\text{rad}}(1+k)^4 + \Omega_{\Lambda}]^{1/2}.$$
 (28)

Here,  $\Omega_{\text{mat}}$ ,  $\Omega_{\text{rad}}$ ,  $\Omega_{\Lambda}$  are present dimensionless density parameters for matter, radiation and dark energy, respectively. The angle  $\Psi_{\text{cosmo}}$  is considered to be so tiny that the relation  $\sin(\Psi_{\text{cosmo}}) \sim \Psi_{\text{cosmo}}$  remains valid. Due to the dependence of Eq. (26) *z*, we can assume that  $x_{\text{out}} \sim R_{\text{out}}$ due to the enormous distance from the black hole. It enables one to connect *z* to  $R_{\text{out}}$  via by [60]

$$R_{\rm out} = \int_0^z \frac{dk}{H(k)}.$$
(29)

Between these inner and outer regions, there is a location where the influence of the black hole and cosmological expansion begins to lose and gain, respectively. This overlap region, denoted by  $R_0$ , is still remote from the black hole. Thus, the approximation z << 1 is valid since the scale factor is  $a(t_0)$  at the location of such an observer at time  $t_0$ . Thus, we have  $D_A(z) \sim R_0$  and

$$L_{\rm o} = \Psi_{\rm o} R_{\rm o},\tag{30}$$

which is still equal to the weak field approximation of Eq. (24):

$$\mathcal{R}_{o} = L_{o} = 3\sqrt{3}M + \frac{\sqrt{3}((Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})e^{-\gamma})^{2}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{M} + \frac{1}{R_{o}}\right] + \mathcal{O}(R_{o}^{-2}, R_{o}^{-3}).$$
(31)

Then, we can match  $L_0$  and  $L_{sh}$  [60]. Using  $R_{out}$  instead of  $R_0$ , the effective shadow radius  $\mathcal{R}_{cosmo}$  in the outer region of rapid expansion is obtained:

$$\mathcal{R}_{\text{cosmo}} = \Psi_{\text{cosmo}} R_{\text{out}} = \frac{R_{\text{out}}}{D_{\text{A}}(z)} \bigg[ 3\sqrt{3}M + \frac{\sqrt{3} \left(Q_{\text{e}}^{2} + Q_{\text{m}}^{2}\right) e^{-2\gamma}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{M} + \frac{1}{R_{\text{out}}}\right) + \mathcal{O}(R_{\text{out}}^{-2}, R_{\text{out}}^{-3}) \bigg].$$
(32)

Finally, the perceived shadow radius  $\mathcal{R}_{approx}$  by an observer co-moving with the cosmic expansion is approximated via composite solution [60]:

$$\mathcal{R}_{approx} = \mathcal{R}_{in} + \mathcal{R}_{cosmo} - \mathcal{R}_{o}.$$
 (33)

Note that in Ref. [60], the authors analyzed the situation using the angular radius, whereas, in this study, we slightly extended the formulation to investigate the shadow radius behaviour.

Equation (33) enables us to calculate the approximated shadow radius using different models for our Universe. In particular, let us take, for example, a Universe dominated by dark energy, where, after evaluating Eqs. (27) and (29), we find

$$D_{\rm A}(z) = \frac{z}{(1+z)H_0}, \quad R_{\rm out} = \frac{z}{H_0}.$$
 (34)

Now for brevity, let

$$W = r_{\rm ph} \left[ \frac{2\left(1 - \frac{2M}{R_{\rm out}} + \frac{(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2)e^{-\gamma}}{R_{\rm out}^2}\right)}{1 - \frac{M}{r_{\rm ph}}} \right]^{1/2},$$
$$w = 3\sqrt{3}M + \frac{\sqrt{3}\left(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2\right)e^{-2\gamma}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{M} + \frac{1}{R_{\rm out}}\right].$$
 (35)

Then, Eq. (33) implies that the approximate shadow radius seen by a co-moving observer is

$$\mathcal{R}_{\text{approx}}^{\Lambda} = W + w H_0 R_{\text{out}}.$$
(36)

Consider a Universe dominated by matter where

$$D_{\rm A}(z) = \frac{2\left(\sqrt{z+1}-1\right)}{H_0(z+1)^{3/2}}, \quad R_{\rm out} = \frac{2\left(\sqrt{z+1}-1\right)}{H_0\sqrt{z+1}}, \quad (37)$$

and we find

$$\mathcal{R}_{\text{approx}}^{\text{mat}} = W + w \left[ \left( 1 - \frac{H_0 R_{\text{out}}}{2} \right)^{-2} - 1 \right].$$
(38)

Lastly, for the radiation dominated Universe,

$$D_{\rm A}(z) = \frac{z}{(z+1)^2 H_0}, \quad R_{\rm out} = \frac{z}{(z+1)H_0},$$
 (39)

and

$$\mathcal{R}_{\text{approx}}^{\text{rad}} = W - w \left[ 1 + (R_{\text{out}}H_0 - 1)^{-1} \right].$$
(40)

The shadow radius behaviour seen by an observer in these models of the Universe can be visualized by plotting Eqs. (36), (38), (40) numerically for an immediate comparison.

In Fig. 4, we note that the Hubble constant is scaled to see the cosmological expansion's overall effect at short distances. However, it is understood that without this scaling and if one uses the experimental value of  $H_0$ , the effect can only be noticeable at distances near the cosmological horizon. Note that at low values of  $R_{obs}/M$ , we can see that the difference between these models is almost negligible. However, for large values of  $R_{\rm obs}/M$ , we can observe the differences between these models of the Universe. Worth noting is the radiation-dominated Universe since there is some point where a peak is reached, and the shadow rapidly decreases in size for a very small change in  $R_{\rm obs}/M$ . For dark energy and matter-dominated Universe, the co-moving observer sees no limit on large the shadow radius will increase. As a final remark, it can also be observed in the plot that the effect of the screening parameter  $\gamma$  is affected by the co-moving state of motion and the type of Universe the observer lives in.



Fig. 4 Plot of the shadow radius for an observer co-moving with cosmological expansion in dark energy, matter, and radiation dominated Universes. Here,  $Q_m = 0.10M$ , and  $H_0 = 0.0408 \text{ M}^{-2}$ 

# 4 Deflection angle using Gauss–Bonnet theorem in weak field limits

In this section, we aim to investigate the weak deflection angle of both massive and null particles by exploiting the Gauss–Bonnet theorem (GBT), which is originally stated as [77,186],

$$\iint_{D} KdS + \sum_{a=1}^{N} \int_{\partial D_{a}} \kappa_{g} d\ell + \sum_{a=1}^{N} \theta_{a} = 2\pi \chi(D).$$
(41)

In this equation, the Gaussian curvature *K* that describes the domain *D* can be oriented in a 2*D* curved surface *S* with infinitesimal area element *dS*. The boundaries of *D* are given by  $\partial D_a$  (a=1, 2, ..., *N*), and the geodesic curvature  $\kappa_g$  is integrated over the path  $d\ell$  in a positive sense. Also, the jump angle is denoted by  $\theta_a$ , wherein  $\chi(D)$  is the Euler characteristic equal to 1 due to the non-singularity of *D*.

In Ref. [85], the GBT is applied to accommodate black hole metrics with non-asymptotic flatness. Although our metric is asymptotically flat, we can still use this formalism as a special case. With the photonsphere radius  $r_{co}$  as being part of the quadrilateral, which serves as the domains of integration, the weak deflection angle can be derived via

$$\hat{\alpha} = \iint_{\substack{R \\ r_{\rm co}} \square_{r_{\rm co}}^{S}} K dS + \phi_{\rm RS}, \tag{42}$$

where S and R are the radial positions of the source and receiver, respectively. Furthermore, the infinitesimal curve surface dS is given by

$$dS = \sqrt{g} dr d\phi, \tag{43}$$

and  $\phi_{RS}$  is the coordinate position angle between the source and the receiver defined as  $\phi_{RS} = \phi_R - \phi_S$ , and g is the determinant of the Jacobi metric. line element of a static, spherically symmetric (SSS) spacetime

$$ds^{2} = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = -A(r)dt^{2} + B(r)dr^{2} + C(r)d\Omega^{2},$$
(44)

where  $d\Omega^2 = d\theta^2 + \sin^2 \theta d\phi^2$ , the Jacobi metric is defined as

$$dl^{2} = g_{ij}dx^{i}dx^{j} = (E^{2} - \mu^{2}A(r))\left(\frac{B(r)}{A(r)}dr^{2} + \frac{C(r)}{A(r)}d\Omega^{2}\right).$$
(45)

Here, E is the energy of the massive particle defined by

$$E = \frac{\mu}{\sqrt{1 - v^2}},\tag{46}$$

where v is the particle's velocity. Due to spherical symmetry, we can analyze along the equatorial plane without losing generality. The determinant of the Jacobi metric can then be sought off as

$$g = \frac{B(r)C(r)}{A(r)^2} (E^2 - \mu^2 A(r))^2.$$
(47)

We need the orbit equation to determine the expressions for  $\phi_{\text{RS}}$ . For time-like particles, this can be derived through  $g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = -1$  which results to

$$F(u) \equiv \left(\frac{du}{d\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{C(u)^2 u^4}{A(u)B(u)} \left[ \left(\frac{E}{J}\right)^2 - A(u) \left(\frac{1}{J^2} + \frac{1}{C(u)}\right) \right],$$
(48)

where we have used the substitution r = 1/u and the angular momentum of the massive particle

$$J = \frac{\mu v b}{\sqrt{1 - v^2}},\tag{49}$$

and b is the impact parameter. With the metric coefficients, we find

$$F(u) = \frac{E^2 - 1}{J^2} - u^2 - u^2 \left(\frac{1}{J^2} + u^2\right) \left(Q_e^2 + Q_m^2\right) e^{-\gamma} + \left(\frac{1}{J^2} + u^2\right) 2Mu.$$
(50)

Solving the above iteratively, we find

$$u(\phi) = \frac{\sin(\phi)}{b} + \frac{1 + v^2 \cos^2(\phi)}{b^2 v^2} M - \frac{\left(Q_e^2 + Q_m^2\right) e^{-\gamma}}{2v^2 b^3}.$$
(51)

The Gaussian curvature K, in terms of affine connections and determinant g, is defined as

$$K = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi} \left( \frac{\sqrt{g}}{g_{rr}} \Gamma^{\phi}_{rr} \right) - \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left( \frac{\sqrt{g}}{g_{rr}} \Gamma^{\phi}_{r\phi} \right) \right]$$
$$= -\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left( \frac{\sqrt{g}}{g_{rr}} \Gamma^{\phi}_{r\phi} \right) \right]$$
(52)

since  $\Gamma_{rr}^{\phi} = 0$  for Eq. (45). Then with the analytical solution to  $r_{co}$ ,

$$\left[\int K\sqrt{g}dr\right]\Big|_{r=r_{\rm co}} = 0,\tag{53}$$

thus,

$$\int_{r_{co}}^{r(\phi)} K\sqrt{g}dr$$
  
=  $-\frac{A(r)\left(E^2 - A(r)\right)C' - E^2C(r)A(r)'}{2A(r)\left(E^2 - A(r)\right)\sqrt{B(r)C(r)}}\Big|_{r=r(\phi)}$ . (54)

The prime denotes differentiation with respect to r. The weak deflection angle is then [85],

$$\hat{\alpha} = \int_{\phi_{\rm S}}^{\phi_{\rm R}} \left[ -\frac{A(r) \left(E^2 - A(r)\right) C' - E^2 C(r) A(r)'}{2A(r) \left(E^2 - A(r)\right) \sqrt{B(r) C(r)}} \Big|_{r=r(\phi)} \right] \times d\phi + \phi_{\rm RS}.$$
(55)

Using Eq. (51) in Eq. (54), we find

$$\begin{split} \left[ \int K \sqrt{g} dr \right] \Big|_{r=r_{\phi}} &= -\frac{\left(2E^{2}-1\right) M(\cos(\phi_{\mathrm{R}})-\cos(\phi_{\mathrm{S}}))}{\left(E^{2}-1\right) b} \\ &- \frac{\left(3E^{2}-1\right) \left(\left(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathrm{e}}^{2}+\mathcal{Q}_{\mathrm{m}}^{2}\right)e^{-\gamma}\left[\phi_{RS}-\frac{\left(\sin(2\phi_{\mathrm{R}})-\sin(2\phi_{\mathrm{S}})\right)}{2}\right]}{4\left(E^{2}-1\right) b^{2}} - \phi_{RS} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}[M\left(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathrm{e}}^{2}+\mathcal{Q}_{\mathrm{m}}^{2}\right)e^{-\gamma}]. \end{split}$$
(56)

Next, we find the expression for  $\phi$ . To do this, we use Eq. (51) and solve for  $\phi$ . For the source and receiver, we find

$$\phi_{\rm S} = \arcsin(bu) + \frac{M \left[ v^2 \left( b^2 u^2 - 1 \right] - 1 \right)}{b v^2 \sqrt{1 - b^2 u^2}} + \frac{\left( Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2 \right) e^{-\gamma}}{2 b^2 v^2 \sqrt{1 - b^2 u^2}} + \mathcal{O}[M \left( Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2 \right) e^{-\gamma}], \quad (57)$$

$$\phi_{\rm R} = \pi - \arcsin(bu) - \frac{M \left[ v^2 \left( b^2 u^2 - 1 \right] - 1 \right)}{b v^2 \sqrt{1 - b^2 u^2}} - \frac{\left( Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2 \right) e^{-\gamma}}{2b^2 v^2 \sqrt{1 - b^2 u^2}} + \mathcal{O}[M \left( Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2 \right) e^{-\gamma}] \quad (58)$$

D Springer

respectively. Careful observation of these equations will allow us to write  $\phi_{RS} = \pi - 2\phi_S$ . Now, we take note of the following relations:

$$\cos(\pi - \phi_{\rm S}) = -\cos(\phi_{\rm S}), \quad \cot(\pi - \phi_{\rm S}) = -\cot(\phi_{\rm S}),$$
$$\sin(\pi - \phi_{\rm S}) = \sin(\phi_{\rm S}). \tag{59}$$

The last property cancels the sine terms in Eq. (56). We find  $\cos(\phi_S)$  as

$$\cos(\phi_{\rm S}) = \sqrt{1 - b^2 u^2} - \frac{Mu \left[ v^2 \left( b^2 u^2 - 1 \right) - 1 \right]}{v^2 \sqrt{(1 - b^2 u^2)}} - \frac{\left( Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2 \right) e^{-\gamma} u}{\sqrt{2} \sqrt{bv^2 \left( 1 - b^2 u^2 \right)}} + \mathcal{O}[M \left( Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2 \right) e^{-\gamma}],$$
(60)

and  $\cot(\phi_S)$  as

$$\cot(\phi_{\rm S}) = \frac{\sqrt{1 - b^2 u^2}}{bu} + \frac{M \left[ v^2 (-b^2 u^2 + 1) + 1 \right]}{b^3 u^2 v^2 \sqrt{1 - b^2 u^2}} - \frac{\left( Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2 \right) e^{-\gamma}}{2b^4 u^2 v^2 \sqrt{1 - b^2 u^2}} + \mathcal{O}[M \left( Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2 \right) e^{-\gamma}].$$
(61)

Using Eq. (46) and by plugging Eqs. (57)–(61) in Eq. (55), we finally obtain

$$\hat{\alpha} \sim \frac{M(v^{2}+1)}{bv^{2}} \left( \sqrt{1-b^{2}u_{R}^{2}} + \sqrt{1-b^{2}u_{S}^{2}} \right) - \frac{\left(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2}\right)e^{-\gamma}\left(v^{2}+2\right)}{4b^{2}v^{2}} \left[\pi - (\arcsin(bu_{R}) + \arcsin(bu_{S}))\right] + \mathcal{O}[M\left(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2}\right)e^{-\gamma}],$$
(62)

which also involves the finite distance  $u_S$  and  $u_R$ . The above expression can still be further approximated as  $b^2 u^2 \sim 0$ :

$$\hat{\alpha} \sim \frac{2M(v^2+1)}{bv^2} - \frac{(Q_e^2 + Q_m^2)e^{-\gamma}\pi(v^2+2)}{4b^2v^2} + \mathcal{O}[M(Q_e^2 + Q_m^2)e^{-\gamma}].$$
(63)

For the case of photons where v = 1, we find

$$\hat{\alpha} \sim \frac{4M}{b} - \frac{3\pi \left(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2\right)e^{-\gamma}}{4b^2} + \mathcal{O}[M\left(Q_{\rm e}^2 + Q_{\rm m}^2\right)e^{-\gamma}].$$
(64)

The above agrees with the result in Ref. [187].

How will the screening parameter  $\gamma$  affect the weak deflection angle, in combination with the finite distance effects? These can be seen in Fig. 5, where we also compared the  $\hat{\alpha}$  caused by both massive and null particles. Our results indicate that  $\hat{\alpha}$  is increased as both the source and the receiver are approximated at  $r \rightarrow \infty$ . Interestingly, massive particles also give a larger deflection angle than photons. When it comes to the effect of  $\gamma$ , it does not discriminate whether it is massive or null particles. That is,  $\gamma > 0$  has a larger value for  $\hat{\alpha}$  as compared to  $\gamma < 0$ . We also remark that  $\gamma < 0$  gives a much lower bound to the critical impact parameter. It means that near (but greater) than the critical impact parameter,  $\hat{\alpha}$  has more range to exist.

A useful astronomical application of the weak deflection angle involves the Einstein ring. Let  $D_{SL}$  and  $D_{LR}$  be the position of the source and receiver from the black hole (lensing object *L*), respectively. The thin lens approximation implies that  $D_{RS} = D_{SL} + D_{LR}$ , and the position of the weak field images is given by

$$D_{\rm RS} \tan \beta = \frac{D_{\rm LR} \sin \theta - D_{\rm SL} \sin(\hat{\alpha} - \theta)}{\cos(\hat{\alpha} - \theta)}.$$
 (65)

An Einstein ring will be formed when  $\beta = 0$ , and the above equation simplifies to

$$\theta_{\rm E} \sim \frac{D_{\rm SL}}{D_{\rm RS}} \hat{\alpha}.$$
(66)

Finally, using the relation  $b = D_{LR} \sin \theta \sim D_{LR} \theta$  we can obtain

$$P_{\rm E} = \frac{-9\pi\epsilon D_{\rm SL} D_{\rm LR}}{4D_{\rm LR} (\Lambda + 6) (D_{\rm RS})} + \frac{\sqrt{3}D_{\rm SL} D_{\rm LR} \left\{ 128 (\Lambda + 6) (D_{\rm RS}) M + 27\pi^2 D_{\rm SL} D_{\rm LR} \epsilon^2 \right\}^{1/2}}{4D_{\rm LR} (\Lambda + 6) (D_{\rm RS})}$$
(67)

where the parameter  $\epsilon = (Q_e^2 + Q_m^2) e^{-\gamma} / b^2$ .

6

We plot Eq. (67) as shown in Fig. 6. In this plot, we compared four cases, and the solid lines represent the effect of the screening parameter on the Einstein ring. As  $\gamma$  decreases, it can be gleaned that the Einstein rings angular radius decreases for a given impact parameter. Furthermore, how fast these angular radii change with b/M is less than cases with no screening parameter (dashed line). As  $b/M \rightarrow \infty$ , the Einstein rings approach the Schwarzschild case. Note that with these parameters, the angular radius of the formed Einstein ring can be experimentally detected since the lowest value we can get in the plot is  $\sim 10,000 \mu$ as. Furthermore, if the deviation from  $Q_{\rm m} = 0.25M$  and  $Q_{\rm m} = 0.50M$  at  $\gamma = -1$  is examined, one needs a device capable of detailing a difference of 570 $\mu$ as at b/M = 10. We see that as  $b/M \rightarrow \infty$ , the effect of the dyonic Modmax parameters lessens.



Fig. 5 Left: Weak deflection angle with finite distance given by Eq. (62). Here,  $u_{\rm S} = u_{\rm R} = 0.5 b^{-1}$ . The dashed lines represent the massive particles, and the solid lines are for photons. Right: Weak deflection



Fig. 6 Plot (theoretical) of the Einstein ring formation in  $\mu$ as. Here, we set  $Q_e = 0.10M$ , and  $D_S = D_R = 10^{10}b$ . The dots represent the critical impact parameter

# 5 Spherically infalling accretion

In this section, we study the spherically free-falling accretion model on the BH from infinity using the method defined in [188,189]. This method gives us realistic visualization of the shadow cast with the accretion disk. In reality, the actual image of the BH can not be seen as an apparent boundary in the universe. Moreover, it is not realistic to use a static accretion disk model because there is a moving accretion disk around a black hole, and also it provides a synchrotron emission from the accretion. To do so, we first study the specific intensity observed at the observed photon frequency



angle as given by Eq. (63), where  $u_{\rm S} = u_{\rm R} \sim 10^{-10} b^{-1}$ . In these plots, the dot represents the critical impact parameters in every case

 $v_{obs}$  solving this integral along the light ray:

$$I(v_{\text{obs}}, b_{\gamma}) = \int_{\gamma} g^3 j(v_e) dl_{\text{prop}}.$$
 (68)

It is noted that  $b_{\gamma}$  is the impact parameter,  $j(v_e)$  is the emissivity/volume,  $dl_{\text{prop}}$  is the infinitesimal proper length and  $v_e$  stands for the photon frequency of the emitter. Here we define the redshift factor for the infalling accretion as follows:

$$g = \frac{k_{\mu}u_o^{\mu}}{k_{\mu}u_e^{\mu}},\tag{69}$$

where the 4-velocity of the photon is  $k^{\mu} = \dot{x}_{\mu}$  and 4-velocity of the distant observer is  $u_o^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0)$ . Moreover, the  $u_e^{\mu}$ stands for the 4-velocity of the infalling accretion

$$u_{\rm e}^{t} = \frac{1}{A(r)}, \quad u_{\rm e}^{r} = -\sqrt{\frac{1-A(r)}{A(r)B(r)}}, \quad u_{\rm e}^{\theta} = u_{\rm e}^{\phi} = 0.$$
 (70)

Using the relation of  $k_{\alpha}k^{\alpha} = 0$ , one can derive  $k_r$  and  $k_t$  which is a constant of motion for the photons:

$$k_r = \pm k_t \sqrt{B(r) \left(\frac{1}{A(r)} - \frac{b^2}{r^2}\right)}.$$
 (71)

Note that sign of  $\pm$  shows that the photon gets close to (away from) the black hole. Then the redshift factor g and proper distance  $dl_{\gamma}$  can be written as follows

$$g = \left(u_e^t + \frac{k_r}{k_t}u_e^r\right)^{-1},\tag{72}$$

Deringer

and

$$dl_{\gamma} = k_{\mu}u_{e}^{\mu}d\lambda = \frac{k^{T}}{g|k_{r}|}dr.$$
(73)

We then consider only the monochromatic emission for the specific emissivity with rest-frame frequency  $v_*$  as follows:

$$j(\nu_e) \propto \frac{\delta(\nu_e - \nu_*)}{r^2}.$$
(74)

Afterwards, the intensity equation given in (68) becomes

$$F(b_{\gamma}) \propto \int_{\gamma} \frac{g^3}{r^2} \frac{k_e^t}{k_e^r} dr.$$
(75)

We investigate the shadow cast with the thin-accretion disk of the black hole in ModMax. First of all, we solve the above equation numerically using the *Mathematica* notebook package [146], (also used in [42,46,190,191]) and this integration of the flux show the effects of the parameters of the ModMax  $\gamma$  on the specific intensity seen by a distant observer for an infalling accretion in Figs. 7, 8 and 9. These plots in Figs. 7, 8 and 9 show the specific intensities for various values of the parameter  $\gamma$  versus *b* observed by the distant observer.

We observe that increasing the value of b, increases the intensity first. Afterwards, intensity reaches the peak value sharply where the photons are captured by a black hole quickly ( at the photon sphere). It is seen that after the peak value, intensity slowly decreases. Moreover, we show the shadow cast of the black hole in the two-dimensional image with a photon sphere by a distant observer in (X, Y) plane where the dark centre of it the event horizon is located, and it is circled by a bright ring with a strongest luminosity (photon sphere). It can be seen that brightness decreases gradually after the maximum region. Hence, we show the effect of the screening parameter  $\gamma$  on the black hole luminosity of the shadow cast where the intensity decreases with increasing the value of the screening parameter  $\gamma$  as seen in Fig. 9.

#### 6 Quasinormal modes of dyonic ModMax black holes

Since the first detection of gravitational waves (GWs) from the coalescence of two stellar-mass black holes in 2015 by the LIGO/VIRGO collaborations [192], gravitational wave physics has begun. Then data from gravitational waves are analyzed to test alternative theories of gravity and different models of compact objects. Perturbative analysis of black hole spacetimes dominated by 'quasinormal ringing' is used to do this. Quasinormal modes (QNMs) are oscillations with complex frequencies with energy dissipation. The complex frequencies of QNMs have the characteristic properties of the





Fig. 7 The specific intensity  $I_{obs}$  seen by a distant observer for an infalling accretion at fixed M = 1,  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.2$ , and  $\gamma = 0.2m$ 



Fig. 8 The specific intensity  $I_{obs}$  seen by a distant observer for an infalling accretion at fixed M = 1,  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.2$ , and  $\gamma = 5m$ 

BHs, such as mass, charge, and angular momentum, independent of the initial perturbations.

In this section, we use the method of WKB approximation to study quasinormal modes (QNMs) of the Dyonic ModMax BHs. This method is known as an effective way to derive QNMs, which is firstly used in [193] by Schutz and Will, then Iyer and Will extended to the third order of WKB approximation in [194]. Recently, WKB approximation has been extended to sixth order and higher-order cases in [130, 195]. To study QNMs of the Dyonic ModMax BHs, first, we use a massless scalar field perturbation in the background of the black hole 81. The Klein–Gordon equation, which is used



Fig. 9 The specific intensity  $I_{obs}$  seen by a distant observer for an infalling accretion at fixed M = 1,  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.2$ ,  $\gamma = 0m$  (black),  $\gamma = 0.2m$  (orange),  $\gamma = 0.9m$  (blue) and  $\gamma = 5m$  (green)

for the scalar field, can be written as follows:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\Phi\right) = 0,$$
(76)

where g is the determinant of the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . Then to solve the above equation, we first use the separation of variables:

$$\Phi(t, r, \theta, \phi) = Y_l(\theta, \phi) \Psi(t, r) / r.$$
(77)

It is noted that  $Y_l(\theta, \phi)$  are spherical harmonics with the multipole number l = 0, 1, 2, ... We then obtain the Schrodinger-like wave equation (Regge–Wheeler–Zerilli equations) [117, 196]:

$$\frac{\partial^2 \Psi}{\partial t^2} + \left( -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial r_*^2} + V(r) \right) \Psi = 0.$$
(78)

where the following relaton defines the tortoise coordinate  $r_*$ :

$$dr_* = \frac{dr}{\sqrt{A(r)B(r)}},\tag{79}$$

with the effective potential for the scalar field

$$V(r) = A(r)\frac{l(l+1)}{r^2} + \frac{1}{2r}\frac{d}{dr}\left[A(r)B(r)\right].$$
(80)

where the line element is written as:

$$ds^{2} = -A(r)dt^{2} + B(r)^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2},$$
(81)

Note that A(r) = B(r) = f(r) in Eq. 2.

One can think of the effective potentials as the potential barriers which provide decaying on the event horizon and at infinity. Apply the following ansatz

$$\Psi(t,r) = e^{-i\omega t} \psi(r), \tag{82}$$

where  $e^{-i\omega t}$  is the time evolution of the scalar field, then we obtain the time-independent wave equation

$$\frac{d^2\psi}{dr_*^2} + \left[\omega^2 - V(r)\right]\psi = 0,$$
(83)

where  $\omega$  is the complex QNM frequency (or eigenvalues of the above wavelike equation) written in the form  $\omega = Re(\omega) + i \operatorname{Im}(\omega)$  to be determined after the appropriate boundary conditions are applied ( $\psi(r)$  corresponds to the purely outgoing wave at spatial infinity;  $\psi(r)$  behaves as the purely ingoing wave at the event horizon):

$$\psi(r) \sim \pm e^{\pm i\omega r^*}, \quad r^* \to \pm \infty.$$
 (84)

Here we use the numerical method of the sixth-order WKB formula to calculate QNMS, which is based on the WKB expansion of the wave function at both the event horizon and spatial infinity. It is then matched with the Taylor expansion is near the peak of its effective potential. There are two turning points/monotonic decay for this potential. To do so, we should solve the following equation [194]

$$\frac{i\left[\omega^2 - V(r_*)|_{\bar{r}_*}\right]}{\sqrt{2V''(r_*)|_{\bar{r}_*}}} - \sum_{j=2}^N \Lambda_j(n) = n + \frac{1}{2},\tag{85}$$

where  $\Lambda_j(n)$  (*N* indicates the order of the WKB method) are the WKB correction terms,  $\bar{r}_*$  is the location of the maximum of the QNM potential  $V(r_*)$  in the tortoise coordinate. Note that  $\Lambda_{2,3}$  are defined in [194]<sup>1</sup> and  $\Lambda_{4,5,6}$  are given in [195]. The dependence of the QNM frequencies on the screening parameter  $\gamma$  is qualitatively different for lowest and higher multipoles, as seen in Table 1. We can see in Tables 1 and 2 that both real and imaginary parts of the  $\omega$  decrease when the parameter  $\gamma$  is increased. The scalar field QNMs for different values of *l* is plotted in Fig. 10, as well as for l = 0, 100 for different values of  $\gamma$  are presented in Figs. 11, 12 and 13.

Next, we study the eikonal quasinormal modes for dyonic ModMax black holes. This method is also known as the geometric optics method due to its relation with the parameters on the null geodesics [197, 198]. The imaginary part of the quasinormal mode frequency (Im  $\omega = -\omega_I$ ), which is responsible for the temporal, exponential decay, can be calculated in the large-*l* limit ( $l \rightarrow \infty$ ) (only the  $g_{tt}$  component is relevant) [199,200] i.e., as the angular momentum number describing our mode solution becomes very large, as follows:

$$\omega_{l\gg1} = l\Omega_{\rm ph} - i\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right)|\lambda_{\rm L}|\,,\tag{86}$$

<sup>1</sup>  $\Lambda_2$  in [194] is missing a factor of *i* in the numerator.

**Table 1** QNM frequencies of scalar field perturbation for ModMAx black hole  $(M = 1, Q_e = 0.2, Q_m = 0.2)$ 

QNM via WKB $(M\omega)$ method					
$\gamma/M$	3th order WKB $(M\omega)$ $(l = 0)$ $(M\omega)$	6th order WKB $(M\omega)$ $(l = 0)$	6th order WKB ( $M\omega$ ) ( $l = 100$ )		
0.0	0.106364 - 0.11523i	0.112044 - 0.101227i	19.6069 - 0.0966434		
0.2	0.106046 - 0.115229 i	0.111767 - 0.101141i	19.5576 - 0.0965692i		
0.4	0.105787 - 0.115226 i	0.111529 - 0.101081i	19.5176 - 0.0965079i		
0.6	0.105577 - 0.115223i	0.111328 - 0.101039i	19.4851 - 0.0964573i		
0.8	0.105406 - 0.115219i	0.111169 - 0.101i	19.4587 - 0.0964157i		
1.0	0.105267 - 0.115216i	0.111039 - 0.100968i	19.4372 - 0.0963815i		
1.2	0.105154 - 0.115213i	0.110923 - 0.100952i	19.4197 - 0.0963534i		
1.4	0.105061 - 0.115211i	0.11085 - 0.100918i	19.4053 - 0.0963303i		
1.6	0.104986 - 0.115208i	0.110785 - 0.100895i	19.3937 - 0.0963114i		
1.8	0.104924 - 0.115206 i	0.110727 - 0.100881i	19.3841 - 0.0962958i		

**Table 2** QNM frequencies of scalar field perturbation for ModMax black hole (M = 1,  $Q_e = 0.2$ ,  $Q_m = 0.2$ )

QNM via WKB $(M\omega)$ method				
$\gamma/M$	6th order WKB $(M\omega)$ $(l = 2)$ $(M\omega)$			
0.0	0.490316 – 0.097176 2 <i>i</i>			
0.2	0.489077 - 0.0971035 i			
0.4	0.488072 - 0.0970434 i			
0.6	0.487256 — 0.0969938 i			
0.8	0.486592 - 0.096953 i			
1.0	0.486051 - 0.0969194 i			
1.2	0.485611 – 0.0968918 <i>i</i>			
1.4	0.485251 - 0.0968692 i			
1.6	0.484958 - 0.0968506 i			
1.8	0.484718 — 0.0968353 <i>i</i>			

with the angular velocity  $\Omega_{ph}$ :

$$\Omega_{\rm ph} = \frac{\sqrt{-g_{tt}\left(r_{\rm ph}\right)}}{r_{\rm ph}} = \frac{\sqrt{f\left(r_{\rm ph}\right)}}{r_{\rm ph}},\tag{87}$$

and Lyapunov exponent  $\lambda_L$ :

$$\lambda_{\rm L} = \sqrt{\frac{f(r_{\rm ph}) \left[2f(r_{\rm ph}) - r_{\rm ph}^2 f''(r_{\rm ph})\right]}{2r_{\rm ph}^2}},$$
(88)

where *n* is the overtone number and take values n = 0, 1, 2, ... Note that the eikonal limit is independent of the spin of the perturbation, so that black holes' scalar, electromagnetic, and gravitational perturbations give the same behaviour in the eikonal limit [201]. Table 3 shows that the real parts decrease, but the imaginary part of the QNMs increase with the increasing parameter  $\gamma$ . We can conclude that these modes are stable because the imaginary parts of the QNMs frequencies are negative. The decay rates (imag-

inary part) of QNMs frequencies increase as the screening parameter  $\gamma$  increases.

To study time-domain profiles of the scalar field perturbation of the BHs, we use the initial disturbance as a Gaussian wave packet:

$$\Psi(r_{*}, t = 0) = \mathcal{A} \operatorname{Exp}\left(-\frac{(r_{*} - \bar{r}_{*})^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right),$$
  
$$\partial_{t} \Psi(r_{*}, t)|_{t=0} = -\partial_{r_{*}} \Psi(r_{*}, 0).$$
(89)

It is noted that we assume that  $\sigma = 2$ ,  $\bar{r}_* = -40$ , and  $\mathcal{A} = 10$ . Then apply the boundary conditions such that the wavefunction vanishes at  $(r_* = -200, r_* = 250)$  to observe the differences between the Schwarzschild black hole and ModMax black hole spacetimes. Afterwards, the time-domain profiles of the scalar field perturbation for l = 0 and l = 2 cases are plotted numerically in Figs. 14 and 15. The ModMax black hole is given in blue, while the Schwarzschild case is in black. The logarithmic plot shows that the ModMax frequency is slightly lower. For the l = 0 case, the plot shows the relatively short period of quasinormal ringing, which makes it hard to extract values of frequencies with good accuracy.

To examine the gravitational signal emitted by an oscillating black hole within the bandwidth of the LIGO/VIRGO interferometers, its frequency must be in the range of around 10–40 Hz, or for the LISA interferometer, about  $10^{-4}-10^{-1}$ Hz [202]. We assume  $M = \alpha M_{\odot}$ , ( $M_{\odot} = 1.48 \times 10^5$  cm), for the frequencies and damping times obtained by [202]

$$\nu = \frac{c}{2\pi\alpha \times M_{\odot} (M\omega_0)} = \frac{32.26}{\alpha} (M\omega_0) \text{ kHz},$$
  
$$\tau = \frac{\alpha M_{\odot}}{(M\omega_i) c} = \frac{\alpha \times 0.4937 \times 10^{-5}}{(M\omega_i)} \text{ s.}$$
(90)

After calculating the fundamental frequencies, we show the allowed range of masses of oscillating ModMax black



Fig. 11 Scalar QNM spectrum for s = l = 0 and  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.2$  for different values of  $\gamma$ 



Fig. 12 Scalar QNM spectrum for s = 0, l = 100 and  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.2$  for different values of  $\gamma$ 

holes which LIGO and LISA can detect:

$$13M_{\odot} \lesssim M \lesssim 1.3 \times 10^3 M_{\odot},\tag{91}$$

for the fundamental frequency range  $\nu \in [12 \text{ Hz}, 1.2 \text{ kHz}]$ , and for LISA the detectable mass range is

$$1.56 \times 10^5 M_{\odot} \lesssim M \lesssim 1.56 \times 10^8 M_{\odot}.$$
(92)

Note that it corresponds to frequencies  $\nu \in [10^{-4}, 10^{-1}]$  Hz. Moreover, in the future, LISA will be able to detect signals emitted by the oscillations of the massive black hole at the centre of our Galaxy SGR A\*, the mass of which is  $M = 4.1 \times 10^6 M_{\odot}$  [32].

# 7 Bounds of greybody factors and high-energy absorption cross-section

Greybody factor (GF) is a quantity related to the quantum nature of a black hole, and its high value gives a high probability that Hawking radiation can reach infinity, so the GF of test fields is important for estimating the intensity of Hawking radiation. Here, we study the rigorous bound on the GF of the dyonic ModMax black hole to probe the effect of  $\gamma$ 



Fig. 13 You can see the convergence of the WKB formula for s = 0, l = 0 and  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.2$  for the value of  $\gamma = 0.6$ 

**Table 3** Effects of the parameter on the frequencies of the quasinormal modes in eikonal limits for fixed  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.2M$ , s = 1, n = 0, l = 100

$\gamma/M$	$\omega_R$	ω <sub>I</sub>
0.2	19.4602	0.862748
0.6	19.3881	0.863857
0.1	19.3404	0.864585
1.4	19.3087	0.865065
1.8	19.2876	0.865384

on the bound. Rigorous bound of the GF was first proposed in [131,132] which gives qualitative description of a black hole as follows:

$$T \ge \operatorname{sech}^{2}\left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \vartheta \, dr_{*}\right),\tag{93}$$

with

$$\vartheta = \frac{\sqrt{\left[h'\left(r_{*}\right)\right]^{2} + \left[w^{2} - V\left(r_{*}\right) - h^{2}\left(r_{*}\right)\right]^{2}}}{2h\left(r_{*}\right)}.$$
(94)

Note that  $h(r_*)$  is a function satisfying the condition  $h(-\infty) = h(\infty) = w$ . [131]. Selecting h = w, and substituting the tortoise coordinate  $r_*$ , we write

$$T_b \ge \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{1}{2w} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |V| \frac{dr}{f(r)}\right).$$
(95)

Here V is the effective potential for the massless scalar field given in (80). We can calculate the bound as follows:

 $sinc(x) \equiv \frac{\sin x}{x}$  with the photon sphere. This method extensively discussed in the literature [203–209].

In the limit of high energy, the oscillatory part of the absorption cross-section can be calculated by using [150]:

$$\sigma_{\rm abs}^{\rm osc}(w) = -8\pi\sigma_{\rm geo} n_c e^{-\pi n_c} \operatorname{sinc} \left[2\pi b_{\rm crit} w\right]$$
(97)

where the  $n_c = \left[ \left( f_{r_{\rm ph}} - \frac{r_{\rm ph}^2}{2} f_{r_{\rm ph}}'' \right) \right]^{1/2}$ , the eikonal crosssection is  $\sigma_{\rm geo} = \pi b_{\rm crit}^2$ , with the critical impact parameter given in (14) as  $b_{\rm crit} = \frac{r_{\rm ph}}{\sqrt{f(r_{\rm ph})}}$  and Lyapunov exponent  $\lambda_L$ is given in Eq. ((88)). The absorption cross-section can also be written as

$$\sigma_{\rm abs}^{\rm osc}(w) = -4\pi \frac{\lambda_L b_{\rm crit}^2}{w} e^{-\pi \lambda_L b_{\rm crit}} \sin \frac{2\pi w}{\Omega_{crit}}$$
(98)

where  $\Omega_{\rm ph}$  is the angular velocity with the radius of the photon sphere  $r_{\rm ph}$ . The total high energy formula for the absorption cross-section is equal to  $\sigma_{\rm abs} \approx \sigma_{\rm abs}^{\rm osc} + \sigma_{\rm geo}$  [149,150]. In Fig. 17 the total absorption cross section for various val-

$$T \ge T_b = \operatorname{sech}^2 \left( \frac{\frac{l(l+1)}{e^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}\sqrt{-Q_e^2 + e^{\gamma}M^2 - Q_m^2} + M} + \frac{M}{\left(e^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}\sqrt{-Q_e^2 + e^{\gamma}M^2 - Q_m^2} + M\right)^2} - \frac{e^{-\gamma}(2Q_m^2 + 2Q_m^2)}{3\left(e^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}\sqrt{-Q_e^2 + e^{\gamma}M^2 - Q_m^2} + M\right)^3}}{2w} \right).$$
(96)

The bound reduces to the Schwarzschild case for  $(\gamma, Q_e, Q_m) \rightarrow 0$ , as  $T_{\text{Sch}} \geq \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{2l(l+1)+1}{8mw}\right)$ . We illustrate the effect of the screening parameter  $\gamma$  on the greybody bound for a scalar field in the ModMax black hole in Fig. 16. It is seen that when the value of  $\gamma$  parameter increases, the greybody bound  $T_b$  grows larger.

Afterwards, the high-energy absorption cross-section is studied by applying the Sinc approximation, which Sanchez first studied for the Schwarzschild black hole. It is shown that increasing the frequency for the ordinary material sphere monotonically increases the absorption cross-section oscillated around the constant geometric-optics value for the black hole (related to the photon sphere) [134] which shows the relation between the impact parameter and cross-section of the photon sphere at the critical value.

On the other hand, it was concluded that at low energy scales, the characteristic properties of BHs and the cross-section of BHs equal the BH area [147]. However, at high energies, one should use the complex angular momentum technique to study the geometrical cross-section of the photon sphere [150]. Decanini et al. use the Regge pole techniques to show the relationship between the oscillatory pattern of the high-energy absorption cross-section and the Sinc(x) function (with Sinc(x) denote the sine cardinal

ues of  $\gamma$  is plotted. The numerical analysis shows that the greater values of screening parameter  $\gamma$ , the total absorption cross section becomes more and more unstable for higher energies and exhibits the largest amplitude. Moreover, there is a regular oscillatory behaviour around the high-frequency limit. Figure 17 presents the absorption spectrum as a function of the frequency, making clear oscillations characteristic of a diffraction pattern, where the oscillations occur around its constant value of the geometrical optics with decreasing amplitude and constant period.

# 8 Effects on neutrino

# 8.1 Flavour oscillation

In this Section we will study the effects of the metric in Eq. (2) on neutrinos, following the treatment in Refs. [210–213]. Even if in the Standard Model neutrinos are assumed massless, in the last fifty years there have been various detection of the *neutrino flavour oscillation* phenomenon. The common explanation for the latter is to take into account the existence of small neutrino masses and that neutrino mass and flavour eigenstates are not coincident. Therefore, neutrinos



Fig. 14 The time-domain profiles of the scalar field perturbation for the case l = 0. The ModMax black hole is given in blue while the Schwarzschild case is in black. In the logarithmic plot, we see that the ModMax frequency is slightly lower



Fig. 15 The time-domain profiles of the scalar field perturbation for the l = 2 cases. The ModMax black hole is given in blue, while the Schwarzschild case is in black. The logarithmic plot shows that the ModMax frequency is slightly lower



Fig. 16 (Scalar field) the greybody bound  $T_b$  versus the w for different values of values of  $\gamma$  parameter, with M = 1, l = 1, s = 0, and  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.12m$ 

Fig. 17 The total absorption cross section for various values of the  $\gamma$ , parameter with M = 1, and  $Q_e = Q_m = 0.2m$ 



will be treated as massive particles in this Section. Firstly, let us define the oscillation length:

$$L_{\rm osc} = 2\pi \; \frac{dl_{\rm pr}}{d\Phi_{\alpha\beta}} \; , \tag{99}$$

where  $dl_{pr}^2 = -g_{ij}dx^i dx^j$  is the infinitesimal proper distance, with *i*, *j* that runs over the spatial coordinates,  $\Phi_{\alpha\beta} = \Phi_{\alpha} - \Phi_{\beta}$  and:

$$\Phi_{\alpha} = \int dr \frac{m_{\alpha}}{\dot{r}} = \int dr \frac{m_{\alpha}^2}{\sqrt{E^2 - g_{00}(r)\left(\frac{L^2}{r^2} - m_{\alpha}^2\right)}} ,$$
(100)

where *L* is the angular neutrino momentum. Considering  $E \gg m_{\alpha}^2$  and L = 0, one obtains

$$L_{\rm osc} = \frac{2\pi E}{\sqrt{g_{00}}(m_{\alpha}^2 - m_{\beta}^2)} \ . \tag{101}$$

Using Eq. (101), we show in Fig. 18 the behaviour of the oscillation length in r for the different parameters of the metric in Eq. (2). As it is possible to see, the main differences in General relativity (GR) occur at low values or r, up to a 10% of changes in the neutrino oscillation length.

Moreover, we can discuss the effects of gravitational redshift of the considered metric on the energy spectra of  $v_e$ and  $\bar{v}_e$  Type II supernova explosion. The gravitational effects affect the r-process nucleosynthesis in astrophysical environments, and we might theoretically estimate that with the  $Y_e$ parameter [212–215]:

$$Y_e = \frac{1}{1 + R_{n/p}}, \quad R_{n/p} = R_{n/p}^0 \Gamma,$$
(102)

with the local neutron to proton ratio  $R^0_{n/p}$  and  $\Gamma$  are defined as:

$$R_{n/p}^{0} \simeq \left[\frac{L_{\bar{\nu}_{e}} \langle E_{\bar{\nu}_{e}} \rangle}{L_{\nu_{e}} \langle E_{\nu_{e}} \rangle}\right], \quad \Gamma = \left[\frac{g_{00}(r_{\bar{\nu}_{e}})}{g_{00}(r_{\nu_{e}})}\right]^{\frac{3}{2}}, \tag{103}$$

where  $L_{\bar{\nu}_e}$  and  $L_{\nu_e}$  = are the antineutrinos and neutrinos luminosity respectively,  $\langle E_{\bar{\nu}_e} \rangle = 25$  MeV,  $\langle E_{\nu_e} \rangle = 10$  MeV and  $r_{\bar{\nu}_e} = 5$  km,  $r_{\nu_e} = 0.9r_{\bar{\nu}_e}$  are the two neutrino-sphere radius for  $\bar{\nu}_e$  and  $\nu_e$  respectively. In Fig. 19, we show the behaviour of  $Y_e$  for the different ratio of the  $\nu_e$ ,  $\bar{\nu}_e$  luminosity with the metric in Eq. (2). It is possible to see that, compared to GR (red curve), we obtain a difference up to 5%, which could be important in the supernovae' evolution.

# 8.2 Spin oscillation

In this subsection, we treat the neutrino spin oscillation problem in the metric in Eq. (2), following the Refs. [213,216,217]. The evolution of the spin vector  $s^a$  is given by

$$\frac{d\mathbf{s}^a}{dt} = 2\,\boldsymbol{\zeta} \times \Omega_{\mathbf{g}}\,,\tag{104}$$

where  $\zeta$  and  $s^a$  are defined as

$$\mathbf{s}^{a} = \left(\boldsymbol{\zeta} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{\zeta} + \frac{\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{\zeta} \cdot \boldsymbol{u})}{1 + u^{0}}\right), \tag{105}$$

$$u = (u^0, \mathbf{u}), \qquad (106)$$

with *u* the four-velocity in the local Minkowski space. In the metric of our interest,  $\Omega_g = (0, \Omega_2, 0)$  and therefore we can use the following representation for  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} = (\zeta_1, 0, \zeta_3) = (\cos \alpha, 0, \sin \alpha)$ . Focusing on the neutrino spin oscillation,





Fig. 19  $Y_e$  parameter for the metric in Eq. (2) for various parameters set ( $Q_e$ ,  $\gamma$ ) reported in the legend. For all the curves, we fixed  $Q_m = 0.25$ 

we define the helicity  $h = \boldsymbol{\zeta} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} / |\boldsymbol{u}|$ . The initial condition is

$$h_{-\infty} = -1 , \qquad (107)$$

$$u_{-\infty} = \left(-\frac{\sqrt{E^2 - m^2}}{m}, 0, 0\right) ,$$
 (108)

$$\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{-\infty} = (1, 0, 0) , \qquad (109)$$

$$\alpha_{-\infty} = 0 \ . \tag{110}$$

Moreover, we can write that  $u_{+\infty} = \left( \frac{\sqrt{E^2 - m^2}}{m, 0, 0} \right)$ and therefore  $h_{+\infty} = \cos \alpha$ . From that, we write the helicity states as

$$\psi_{-\infty} = |-1\rangle \tag{111}$$

$$\psi_{+\infty} = a_{+}|-1\rangle + a_{-}|1\rangle, \qquad (112)$$

where  $a_+^2 + a_-^2 = 1$  due to the normalization and  $a_+^2 - a_-^2 = \cos \alpha = \langle h \rangle_{+\infty}$ . Therefore, one finds that

$$P_{LR} = |a_{-}|^{2} = \frac{1 - \cos \alpha_{+\infty}}{2} \,. \tag{113}$$

Using Eq. (104), we obtain

$$\frac{d\sin\alpha}{dt} = 2\cos\alpha\Omega_2 \quad \to \quad \alpha = 2\Omega_2 t \,. \tag{114}$$

$$\frac{d\alpha}{dr} = \frac{d\alpha}{dt}\frac{dt}{dr} = \frac{d\alpha}{dt}\frac{dt}{d\tau}\frac{d\tau}{d\tau}\frac{d\tau}{dr},$$
(115)

where  $dt/d\tau = U^0$  and  $dr/d\tau = U^1$ . Finally, the angle  $\alpha_{+\infty}$  reads

$$\alpha_{+\infty} = \int dr \frac{d\alpha}{dr} \ . \tag{116}$$

Using Eq. (116) it is possible to obtain the spin-flip probability for metric in Eq. (2), shown in Fig. 20. The important feature is that, with the used metric, the spin-flip phenomenon is suppressed. The analysis with the inclusion of a magnetic field will be faced elsewhere.

# 9 Conclusions

In this work, we probed how the dyonic ModMax black hole parameters would affect the shadow, lensing, and neutrino propagation in its vicinity. To do so, we initially constrained the values of  $Q_{\rm m}$  under the effect of  $\gamma = 1$  and  $\gamma = -1$  charge screening parameters using the EHT data on the shadow diameter of Sgr. A\* and M87\*. Focusing on  $Q_{\rm e} = 0.01M - 0.10M$ , since astrophysical black holes may contain a nearly zero electric charge, we see that the value of Fig. 20 Spin flip probability for the metric in Eq. (2), for different parameter values specified in the legend (we set always  $Q_m = 0.25$ ). We have also shown the GR spin-flip probability (red line) for comparison. We have considered neutrinos with  $\gamma = E/m = 10$ 



 $\gamma$  is irrelevant near  $Q_{\rm m} = 0$ . For Sgr. A\* occurs above the observed shadow diameter, while it occurs below for M87\*. With these parameters, the deviation to the observed shadow radius is still within  $2\sigma$  uncertainty, while for M87\*, lower bounds for  $Q_{\rm m}$  can be observed. See Fig. 2.

We also analyzed the shadow cast behaviour for a static observer and one that is comoving with cosmic expansion for a different model of Universes (i.e., dark energy, matter, and radiation-dominated Universes). With the parameters chosen from the constraints, we saw that the shadow radius decreases due to  $Q_m > 0$ , and such an effect is amplified as  $\gamma$  decreases. As  $r_{obs} \rightarrow \infty$ , the rate of change in the shadow radius is zero. However, when the observer is comoving with the cosmic expansion, such change is no longer zero. See Fig. 4. While empirical data favours that our Universe is a dark energydominated one, it is interesting how we can also confirm this by using the deviation observed from the shadow cast. According to Fig. 4, such a deviation is amplified if one observes the shadow of a black hole near the cosmological horizon.

Next in our analysis is how the Modmax parameters are manifested through the deviations on the weak deflection angle, which is so sensitive even for large b/M. Our results revealed that the effect is amplified when  $u \rightarrow 0$ . Furthermore, it was shown that relativistic massive particles give a larger deflection angle than photons. As  $\gamma$  decreases, so does  $\hat{\alpha}$ , which is also manifested in Einstein ring formation. With the chosen parameters, these deviations can be detected by current sophisticated experiments. For instance, the EHT is capable of achieving an angular resolution of  $10\mu$ as, which is used in mapping the stellar distributions near Sgr. A\*. Furthermore, the ESA's GAIA mission can provide a sensitivity from  $20\mu$ as to  $7\mu$ as, which still depends on certain stellar magnitudes, used to map the Milky Way galaxy [218]. The smaller the angular resolution, the more the device can probe deflection at larger impact parameters. Note that the eikonal limit is independent of the spin of the perturbation, so that black holes' scalar, electromagnetic, and gravitational perturbations give the same behaviour in the eikonal limit [201]. Table 3 shows that the real parts decrease, but the imaginary part of the QNMs increase with the increasing parameter  $\gamma$ . We can conclude that these modes are stable cause the imaginary parts of the QNMs frequencies are negative. The decay rates (imaginary part) of QNMs frequencies increase with the increase of the screening parameter  $\gamma$ .

In Sect. 5, the spherically free-falling accretion model on the ModMax BH from infinity has been investigated to provide realistic visualization of the shadow cast with the accretion disk. To do so, we first calculate the flux numerically to illustrate the effects of the parameters of the ModMax  $\gamma$ on the specific intensity seen by a distant observer for an infalling accretion in Figs. 7, 8 and 9 where show the specific intensities for various values of the parameter  $\gamma$  versus b observed by the distant observer. We have concluded that increasing the value of b, increases the intensity first. Afterwards, intensity reaches the peak value sharply, where the photons are captured by a black hole quickly. There is a peak value, and then intensity slowly decreases. Furthermore, it is shown that the shadow cast of the black hole in the twodimensional image with a photon sphere by a distant observer in (X, Y) plane where the dark centre of it the event horizon is located, and it is circled by a bright ring with a strongest luminosity (photon sphere). It can be seen that brightness decreases gradually after the maximum region. As a result, we have concluded that the effect of the screening parameter  $\gamma$  on the black hole luminosity of the shadow cast where the intensity decreases with increasing the value of the screening parameter  $\gamma$  as seen in Fig. 9.

In Sect. 6, we calculate the quasinormal modes (ONMs) of the Dyonic ModMax BHs by applying the method of WKB approximation. To study QNMs of the ModMax BHs, first, we use a massless scalar field perturbation in the background of the black hole 81. The dependence of the QNM frequencies on the screening parameter  $\gamma$  is qualitatively different for lowest and higher multipoles, as seen in Table 1. We can see in Tables 1 and 2 that both real and imaginary parts of the  $\omega$  decrease when the parameter  $\gamma$  is increased. The scalar field QNMs for different values of l is plotted in 10, as well as for l = 0,100 for different values of  $\gamma$  are presented in Figs. 11, 12 and 13. Then, we study the eikonal quasinormal modes for dyonic ModMax black holes. This method is also known as the geometric optics method due to its relation with the parameters of the null geodesics. Furthermore, the timedomain profiles of the scalar field perturbation for l = 0 and l = 2 cases have been plotted numerically in Figs. 14 and 15. The ModMax black hole is given in blue; on the other hand, the Schwarzschild case is black. The logarithmic plot shows that the ModMax frequency is slightly lower. For the l = 0case, the plot shows the relatively short period of quasinormal ringing, making it hard to extract values of frequencies with good accuracy. After calculating the fundamental frequencies, we have provided constraints for the allowed range of masses of oscillating ModMax black holes which LIGO and LISA can detect.

Moreover, in Sect. 7, first we investigated the greybody factor of the ModMax black hole by using the rigorous bound. We show the effect of the screening parameter  $\gamma$  on the greybody bound for the scalar field of the ModMax black hole in Fig. 16 where it is seen that when the value of  $\gamma$  parameter increases, the greybody bound  $T_b$  grows larger. Second, the high-energy absorption cross-section has been studied by applying the Sinc approximation for the ModMax black hole. We have shown in Fig. 17 that the total absorption cross section for various values of  $\gamma$  where shows that the greater values of screening parameter  $\gamma$ , the total absorption cross section becomes more and more unstable for higher energies and exhibits the largest amplitude. Furthermore, there is a regular oscillatory behaviour around the high-frequency limit. Figure 17 presents the absorption spectrum as a function of the frequency, making clear oscillations characteristic of a diffraction pattern, where the oscillations occur around its constant value of the geometrical optics with decreasing amplitude and constant period.

We have analyzed the neutrino oscillations and spin-flip phenomena in the dyonic ModMax black holes field. This analysis can be relevant in relation to the recent observations of the event horizon silhouette of a supermassive BH [31,32]. The accretion disk around BHs is a source of photons and neutrinos [219]. The neutrino flavour oscillations and spin oscillations may affect the neutrino flux expected in a neutrino telescope. We have seen that neutrino oscillation lengths get modified of  $\sim 10\%$  in dyonic ModMax geometry, as compared to GR spacetime. Spin flip oscillations, instead, are suppressed, as in GR. This is a consequence of the fact that one has to consider relativistic neutrinos. Moreover, we have only considered the effects of the gravitational field, while a complete analysis should include the magnetic field [216]. We have also discussed the influence of the dyonic ModMax geometry on the nucleosynthesis processes, getting a difference  $\sim$  5%, with respect to GR, which could be relevant in the Supernovae evolution. We conclude by noting that a follow-up of these studies will be: the propagation of neutrino in both gravitational and electromagnetic fields; the coupling of neutrino magnetic momentum in non-linear electrodynamics; the neutrino spin oscillations (in gravitational fields) can be potentially observed in core-collapsing SN (in our Galaxy) since a huge amount of neutrinos are emitted. These effects are expected to be probed with future neutrino telescopes. All these topics will be faced in future works.

Acknowledgements The work of G.L. and L.M. is supported by the Italian Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare (INFN) through the "QGSKY" project and by Ministero dell'Istruzione, Università e Ricerca (MIUR). G.L., A. Ö. and R. P. would like to acknowledge networking support by the COST Action CA18108 - Quantum gravity phenomenology in the multi-messenger approach (QG-MM).

**Data Availability Statement** This manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited. [Authors' comment: Data sharing is not applicable as only public data has been used and no data has been generated.]

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Funded by SCOAP<sup>3</sup>. SCOAP<sup>3</sup> supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

#### References

- 1. G.W. Gibbons, AIP Conf. Proc. **589**, 324 (2001). arXiv:hep-th/0106059
- 2. M. Born, L. Infeld, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 144, 425 (1934)
- 3. E.S. Fradkin, A.A. Tseytlin, Phys. Lett. B 163, 123 (1985)
- W. Heisenberg, H. Euler, Z. Phys. 98, 714 (1936). arXiv:physics/0605038
- 5. E. Ayon-Beato, A. Garcia, Phys. Rev. Lett. **80**, 5056 (1998). arXiv:gr-qc/9911046
- 6. K.A. Bronnikov, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 4641 (2000)

- 7. K.A. Bronnikov, Phys. Rev. D **63**, 044005 (2001). arXiv:gr-qc/0006014
- I. Bandos, K. Lechner, D. Sorokin, P.K. Townsend, Phys. Rev. D 102, 121703 (2020). arXiv:2007.09092
- D. Flores-Alfonso, B.A. González-Morales, R. Linares, M. Maceda, Phys. Lett. B 812, 136011 (2021). arXiv:2011.10836
- 10. A. Banerjee, A. Mehra (2022). arXiv: 2206.11696
- 11. A. Bokulić, I. Smolić, T. Jurić (2022). arXiv:2206.07064
- K. Lechner, P. Marchetti, A. Sainaghi, D.P. Sorokin, Phys. Rev. D 106, 016009 (2022). arXiv:2206.04657
- J. Barrientos, A. Cisterna, D. Kubiznak, J. Oliva (2022). arXiv:2205.15777
- 14. M. Ortaggio (2022). arXiv:2205.14392
- 15. H. Nastase, Phys. Rev. D 105, 105024 (2022)
- C. Ferko, L. Smith, G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli (2022). arXiv:2203.01085
- 17. A. Ali, K. Saifullah, Ann. Phys. 437, 168726 (2022)
- S.I. Kruglov, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 31, 2250025 (2022). arXiv:2203.11697
- 19. D.P. Sorokin (2021). arXiv:2112.12118
- C.A. Escobar, R. Linares, B. Tlatelpa-Mascote, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 37, 2250011 (2022). arXiv:2112.10060
- 21. H. Nastase (2021). arXiv:2112.01234
- 22. A. Bokulić, T. Jurić, I. Smolić, Phys. Rev. D 105, 024067 (2022). arXiv:2111.10387
- 23. K. Nomura, D. Yoshida, Phys. Rev. D 105, 044006 (2022). arXiv:2111.06273
- 24. M. Zhang, J. Jiang, Phys. Rev. D 104, 084094 (2021). arXiv:2110.04757
- 25. S.I. Kruglov, Phys. Lett. B 822, 136633 (2021). arXiv:2108.08250
- I. Bandos, K. Lechner, D. Sorokin, P.K. Townsend, JHEP 10, 031 (2021). arXiv:2106.07547
- A. Bokulić, T. Jurić, I. Smolić, Phys. Rev. D 103, 124059 (2021). arXiv:2102.06213
- D. Flores-Alfonso, R. Linares, M. Maceda, JHEP 09, 104 (2021). arXiv:2012.03416
- A. Ballon Bordo, D. Kubizňák, T.R. Perche, Phys. Lett. B 817, 136312 (2021). arXiv:2011.13398
- H. Babaei-Aghbolagh, K.B. Velni, D.M. Yekta, H. Mohammadzadeh, Phys. Lett. B 829, 137079 (2022). arXiv:2202.11156
- K. Akiyama et al. (Event Horizon Telescope), Astrophys. J. Lett. 875, L1 (2019). arXiv:1906.11238
- K. Akiyama et al., (Event Horizon Telescope), Astrophys. J. Lett. 930, L12 (2022)
- 33. J.L. Synge, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 131, 463 (1966). (ISSN 0035-8711)
- 34. J.P. Luminet, Astron. Astrophys. 75, 228 (1979)
- A. Allahyari, M. Khodadi, S. Vagnozzi, D.F. Mota, JCAP 02, 003 (2020). arXiv:1912.08231
- S. Vagnozzi, C. Bambi, L. Visinelli, Class. Quantum Gravity 37, 087001 (2020). arXiv:2001.02986
- S. Vagnozzi, L. Visinelli, Phys. Rev. D 100, 024020 (2019). arXiv:1905.12421
- M. Khodadi, G. Lambiase, D.F. Mota, JCAP 09, 028 (2021). arXiv:2107.00834
- 39. A. Övgün, I. Sakallı, J. Saavedra, JCAP 10, 041 (2018). arXiv:1807.00388
- 40. A. Övgün, I. Sakallı, Class. Quantum Gravity **37**, 225003 (2020). arXiv:2005.00982
- 41. R.C. Pantig, A. Övgün, Eur. Phys. J. C 82, 391 (2022). arXiv:2201.03365
- 42. A. Uniyal, R.C. Pantig, A. Övgün (2022). arXiv:2205.11072
- 43. R.C. Pantig, A. Övgün, D. Demir (2022). arXiv:2208.02969
- 44. N.J.L.S. Lobos, R.C. Pantig, Physics 4, 1318 (2022). arXiv:2208.00618

- J. Rayimbaev, R.C. Pantig, A. Övgün, A. Abdujabbarov, D. Demir (2022). arXiv:2206.06599
- 46. R.C. Pantig, A. Övgün (2022). arXiv:2206.02161
- 47. R.C. Pantig, A. Övgün, JCAP 08, 056 (2022). arXiv:2202.07404
- 48. R.C. Pantig, A. Övgün (2022). arXiv:2210.00523
- M. Afrin, R. Kumar, S.G. Ghosh, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 504, 5927 (2021). arXiv:2103.11417
- R. Kumar, S.G. Ghosh, A. Wang, Phys. Rev. D 101, 104001 (2020). arXiv:2001.00460
- 51. R. Kumar, S.G. Ghosh, Astrophys. J. 892, 78 (2020). arXiv:1811.01260
- 52. R. Kumar, S.G. Ghosh, JCAP 07, 053 (2020). arXiv:2003.08927
- F. Atamurotov, A. Abdujabbarov, B. Ahmedov, Phys. Rev. D 88, 064004 (2013)
- A. Belhaj, M. Benali, A. El Balali, H. El Moumni, S.E. Ennadifi, Class. Quantum Gravity 37, 215004 (2020). arXiv:2006.01078
- S.E. Gralla, D.E. Holz, R.M. Wald, Phys. Rev. D 100, 024018 (2019). arXiv:1906.00873
- U. Papnoi, F. Atamurotov, Phys. Dark Univ. 35, 100916 (2022). arXiv:2111.15523
- F. Atamurotov, B. Ahmedov, Phys. Rev. D 92, 084005 (2015). arXiv:1507.08131
- F. Atamurotov, S.G. Ghosh, B. Ahmedov, Eur. Phys. J. C 76, 273 (2016). arXiv:1506.03690
- U. Papnoi, F. Atamurotov, S.G. Ghosh, B. Ahmedov, Phys. Rev. D 90, 024073 (2014). arXiv:1407.0834
- O.Y. Tsupko, G.S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 29, 2050062 (2020)
- V. Perlick, O.Y. Tsupko, G.S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, Phys. Rev. D 92, 104031 (2015)
- V. Perlick, O.Y. Tsupko, G.S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, Phys. Rev. D 97, 104062 (2018)
- R. Roy, S. Chakrabarti, Phys. Rev. D 102, 024059 (2020). arXiv:2003.14107
- 64. Z. Chang, Q.-H. Zhu, Phys. Rev. D 101, 084029 (2020). arXiv:2001.05175
- 65. V.I. Dokuchaev, N.O. Nazarova, Usp. Fiz. Nauk **190**, 627 (2020). arXiv:1911.07695
- 66. V.I. Dokuchaev, N.O. Nazarova, Universe 6, 154 (2020). arXiv:2007.14121
- V.I. Dokuchaev, N.O. Nazarova, V.P. Smirnov, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 51, 81 (2019). arXiv:1903.09594
- V. Dokuchaev, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 28, 1941005 (2019). arXiv:1812.06787
- K.S. Virbhadra, G.F.R. Ellis, Phys. Rev. D 62, 084003 (2000). arXiv:astro-ph/9904193
- 70. K.S. Virbhadra, G.F.R. Ellis, Phys. Rev. D 65, 103004 (2002)
- K.S. Virbhadra, D. Narasimha, S.M. Chitre, Astron. Astrophys. 337, 1 (1998). arXiv:astro-ph/9801174
- K.S. Virbhadra, C.R. Keeton, Phys. Rev. D 77, 124014 (2008). arXiv:0710.2333
- 73. K.S. Virbhadra, Phys. Rev. D 79, 083004 (2009). arXiv:0810.2109
- 74. S.L. Adler, K.S. Virbhadra (2022). arXiv:2205.04628
- 75. K.S. Virbhadra (2022). arXiv:2204.01792
- 76. K.S. Virbhadra (2022). arXiv:2204.01879
- G.W. Gibbons, M.C. Werner, Class. Quantum Gravity 25, 235009 (2008). arXiv:0807.0854
- M.C. Werner, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 44, 3047 (2012). arXiv:1205.3876
- 79. A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 98, 044033 (2018). arXiv:1805.06296
- 80. A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 99, 104075 (2019). arXiv:1902.04411
- Z. Li, A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 101, 024040 (2020). arXiv:2001.02074
- 82. A. Övgün, Universe 5, 115 (2019). arXiv:1806.05549
- W. Javed, J. Abbas, A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 100, 044052 (2019). arXiv:1908.05241

- W. Javed, R. Babar, A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 100, 104032 (2019). arXiv:1910.11697
- Z. Li, G. Zhang, A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 101, 124058 (2020). arXiv:2006.13047
- Y. Kumaran, A. Övgün, Chin. Phys. C 44, 025101 (2020). arXiv:1905.11710
- W. Javed, A. Hamza, A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 101, 103521 (2020). arXiv:2005.09464
- 88. A. Övgün, Turk. J. Phys. 44, 465 (2020). arXiv:2011.04423
- W. Javed, R. Babar, A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 99, 084012 (2019). arXiv:1903.11657
- 90. K. Jusufi, A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 97, 024042 (2018). arXiv:1708.06725
- K. Jusufi, M.C. Werner, A. Banerjee, A. Övgün, Phys. Rev. D 95, 104012 (2017). arXiv:1702.05600
- 92. I. Sakalli, A. Ovgun, EPL 118, 60006 (2017). arXiv:1702.04636
- 93. T. Regge, J.A. Wheeler, Phys. Rev. 108, 1063 (1957)
- 94. F.J. Zerilli, Phys. Rev. D 2, 2141 (1970)
- 95. K.S. Thorne, Phys. Rev. Lett. 21, 320 (1968)
- K. S. Thorne, in 6th Conference on Quantum Mechanics of Fundamental Systems: Black Holes and the Structure of the Universe (1997), pp. 81–118. arXiv:gr-qc/9706079
- 97. C.V. Vishveshwara, Nature 227, 936 (1970)
- 98. W.H. Press, Astrophys. J. Lett. 170, L105 (1971)
- M. Davis, R. Ruffini, W.H. Press, R.H. Price, Phys. Rev. Lett. 27, 1466 (1971)
- 100. S.L. Detweiler, Phys. Rev. D 22, 2323 (1980)
- 101. R.G. Daghigh, M.D. Green, Phys. Rev. D 85, 127501 (2012). arXiv:1112.5397
- 102. R.G. Daghigh, M.D. Green, J.C. Morey, G. Kunstatter, Phys. Rev. D 102, 104040 (2020). arXiv:2009.02367
- R.G. Daghigh, M.D. Green, Class. Quantum Gravity 26, 125017 (2009). arXiv:0808.1596
- 104. A. Zhidenko, Class. Quantum Gravity **21**, 273 (2004). arXiv:gr-qc/0307012
- 105. A. Zhidenko, Class. Quantum Gravity 23, 3155 (2006). arXiv:gr-qc/0510039
- 106. M. Chabab, H. El Moumni, S. Iraoui, K. Masmar, Astrophys. Space Sci. 362, 192 (2017). arXiv:1701.00872
- 107. S. Lepe, J. Saavedra, Phys. Lett. B **617**, 174 (2005). arXiv:gr-qc/0410074
- 108. Y. Yang, D. Liu, A. Övgün, Z.-W. Long, Z. Xu (2022). arXiv:2203.11551
- 109. Y. Yang, D. Liu, A. Övgün, Z.-W. Long, Z. Xu (2022). arXiv:2205.07530
- 110. D. Liu, Y. Yang, A. Övgün, Z.-W. Long, Z. Xu (2022). arXiv:2204.11563
- 111. S. Fernando, P.A. González, Y. Vásquez, Eur. Phys. J. C 82, 600 (2022). arXiv:2204.02755
- 112. S. Fernando, J. Correa, Phys. Rev. D 86, 064039 (2012). arXiv:1208.5442
- 113. S. Fernando, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. **36**, 71 (2004). arXiv:hep-th/0306214
- 114. S. Fernando, Phys. Rev. D 77, 124005 (2008). arXiv:0802.3321
- 115. D. Liu, Y. Yang, S. Wu, Y. Xing, Z. Xu, Z.-W. Long, Phys. Rev. D 104, 104042 (2021). arXiv:2104.04332
- 116. Y. Yang, D. Liu, Z. Xu, Y. Xing, S. Wu, Z.-W. Long, Phys. Rev. D 104, 104021 (2021). arXiv:2107.06554
- 117. K.D. Kokkotas, B.G. Schmidt, Living Rev. Relativ. 2, 2 (1999). arXiv:gr-qc/9909058
- 118. H.-P. Nollert, Class. Quantum Gravity 16, R159 (1999)
- E. Berti, V. Cardoso, A.O. Starinets, Class. Quantum Gravity 26, 163001 (2009). arXiv:0905.2975
- 120. S.W. Hawking, Commun. Math. Phys. **43**, 199 (1975) [Erratum: Commun. Math. Phys. **46**, 206 (1976)]

- E.T. Akhmedov, V. Akhmedova, D. Singleton, Phys. Lett. B 642, 124 (2006). arXiv:hep-th/0608098
- 122. J.M. Maldacena, A. Strominger, Phys. Rev. D 55, 861 (1997). arXiv:hep-th/9609026
- 123. T. Harmark, J. Natario, R. Schiappa, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 14, 727 (2010). arXiv:0708.0017
- 124. A. Rincón, G. Panotopoulos, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 858 (2018). arXiv:1810.08822
- 125. A. Rincón, V. Santos, Eur. Phys. J. C 80, 910 (2020). arXiv:2009.04386
- G. Panotopoulos, A. Rincón, Phys. Rev. D 97, 085014 (2018). arXiv:1804.04684
- 127. G. Panotopoulos, A. Rincón, Phys. Rev. D 96, 025009 (2017). arXiv:1706.07455
- I.R. Klebanov, S.D. Mathur, Nucl. Phys. B 500, 115 (1997). arXiv:hep-th/9701187
- 129. S. Fernando, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. **37**, 461 (2005). arXiv:hep-th/0407163
- R.A. Konoplya, A. Zhidenko, A.F. Zinhailo, Class. Quantum Gravity 36, 155002 (2019). arXiv:1904.10333
- 131. M. Visser, Phys. Rev. A 59, 427 (1999). arXiv:quant-ph/9901030
- 132. P. Boonserm, M. Visser, Phys. Rev. D 78, 101502 (2008). arXiv:0806.2209
- 133. R.A. Matzner, J. Math. Phys. 9, 163 (1968)
- 134. N.G. Sanchez, Phys. Rev. D 18, 1030 (1978)
- 135. R. Fabbri, Phys. Rev. D 12, 933 (1975)
- 136. W.G. Unruh, Phys. Rev. D 14, 3251 (1976)
- 137. N. Andersson, Phys. Rev. D 52, 1808 (1995)
- C.L. Benone, E.S. de Oliveira, S.R. Dolan, L.C.B. Crispino, Phys. Rev. D 89, 104053 (2014). arXiv:1404.0687
- C.F.B. Macedo, L.C.B. Crispino, Phys. Rev. D 90, 064001 (2014). arXiv:1408.1779
- L.C.B. Crispino, S.R. Dolan, A. Higuchi, E.S. de Oliveira, Phys. Rev. D 92, 084056 (2015). arXiv:1507.03993
- 141. L.C.S. Leite, S.R. Dolan, L.C.B. Crispino, Phys. Lett. B 774, 130 (2017). arXiv:1707.01144
- 142. W. Javed, M. Aqib, A. Övgün, New Astron. 96, 101827 (2022)
- 143. W. Javed, S. Riaz, A. Övgün, Universe **8**, 262 (2022). arXiv:2205.02229
- 144. W. Javed, M. Aqib, A. Övgün, Phys. Lett. B 829, 137114 (2022). arXiv:2204.07864
- 145. W. Javed, I. Hussain, A. Övgün, Eur. Phys. J. Plus **137**, 148 (2022). arXiv:2201.09879
- 146. M. Okyay, A. Övgün, JCAP 01, 009 (2022). arXiv:2108.07766
- 147. S.R. Das, G.W. Gibbons, S.D. Mathur, Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 417 (1997). arXiv:hep-th/9609052
- 148. A. Higuchi, Class. Quantum Gravity 18, L139 (2001) [Addendum: Class .Quantum Gravity 19, 599 (2002)]. arXiv:hep-th/0108144
- 149. Y. Decanini, A. Folacci, Phys. Rev. D 81, 024031 (2010). arXiv:0906.2601
- Y. Decanini, G. Esposito-Farese, A. Folacci, Phys. Rev. D 83, 044032 (2011). arXiv:1101.0781
- M.A. Acero et al. (NOvA), Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**, 151803 (2019). arXiv:1906.04907
- 152. H. de Kerret et al. (Double Chooz), Nat. Phys. 16, 558 (2020). arXiv:1901.09445
- N. Agafonova et al. (OPERA), Phys. Rev. D 100, 051301 (2019). arXiv:1904.05686
- 154. A. Baha Balantekin, B. Kayser, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 68, 313 (2018). arXiv:1805.00922
- C. Giunti, K.A. Kouzakov, Y.-F. Li, A.V. Lokhov, A.I. Studenikin, S. Zhou, Ann. Phys. **528**, 198 (2016). arXiv:1506.05387
- 156. A. Papapetrou, R.E. Peierls, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A. Math. Phys. Sci. 209, 248 (1951)

- 157. D. Piriz, M. Roy, J. Wudka, Phys. Rev. D 54, 1587 (1996). arXiv:hep-ph/9604403
- 158. F. Sorge, S. Zilio, Class. Quantum Gravity 24, 2653 (2007)
- Y.N. Obukhov, A.J. Silenko, O.V. Teryaev, Phys. Rev. D 96, 105005 (2017). arXiv:1708.05601
- M. Dvornikov, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 15, 1017 (2006). arXiv:hep-ph/0601095
- 161. M. Dvornikov, Phys. Rev. D 99, 116021 (2019). arXiv:1902.11285
- 162. H.J. Mosquera Cuesta, G. Lambiase, J.P. Pereira, Phys. Rev. D 95, 025011 (2017). arXiv:1701.00431
- 163. L. Buoninfante, G.G. Luciano, L. Petruzziello, L. Smaldone, Phys. Rev. D 101, 024016 (2020). arXiv:1906.03131
- 164. C.Y. Cardall, G.M. Fuller, Phys. Rev. D 55, 7960 (1997). arXiv:hep-ph/9610494
- 165. L. Visinelli, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 47, 62 (2015). arXiv:1410.1523
- 166. S. Chakraborty, JCAP 10, 019 (2015). arXiv:1506.02647
- 167. F. Sorge, Class. Quantum Gravity 29, 045002 (2012)
- D.V. Ahluwalia, C. Burgard, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 28, 1161 (1996). arXiv:gr-qc/9603008
- G. Lambiase, G. Papini, R. Punzi, G. Scarpetta, Phys. Rev. D 71, 073011 (2005). arXiv:gr-qc/0503027
- H. Swami, K. Lochan, K.M. Patel, Phys. Rev. D 102, 024043 (2020). arXiv:2002.00977
- 171. H.J. Mosquera Cuesta, G. Lambiase, Astrophys. J. 689, 371 (2008). arXiv:0809.0526
- 172. G. Lambiase, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. **362**, 867 (2005). arXiv:astro-ph/0411242
- 173. S. Capozziello, G. Lambiase, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 14, 2193 (1999). arXiv:gr-qc/9910026
- 174. G. Lambiase, G. Papini, Lect. Notes Phys. 993, 1-190 (2021)
- 175. G. Lambiase, L. Mastrototaro, L. Visinelli (2022). arXiv:2207.08067
- A. Capolupo, G. Lambiase, A. Quaranta, Phys. Rev. D 101, 095022 (2020). arXiv:2003.00516
- H. Mohseni Sadjadi, H. Yazdani Ahmadabadi, Phys. Rev. D 103, 065012 (2021)
- 178. R. Ruffini, Y.-B. Wu, S.-S. Xue, Phys. Rev. D 88, 085004 (2013). arXiv:1307.4951
- 179. M. Maceda, A. Macías, Phys. Lett. B **788**, 446 (2019). arXiv:1807.05269
- S. Vagnozzi, R. Roy, Y.-D. Tsai, L. Visinelli (2022). arXiv:2205.07787
- 181. G. Fragione, A. Loeb, Astrophys. J. Lett. 901, L32 (2020). arXiv:2008.11734
- 182. D. Garofalo, Ann. Phys. 532, 1900480 (2020). arXiv:2003.02163
- 183. R. Nemmen, Astrophys. J. Lett. 880, L26 (2019). arXiv:1905.02143
- 184. M. Zajaček, A. Tursunov, A. Eckart, S. Britzen, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 480, 4408 (2018). arXiv:1808.07327
- 185. C.J. Gao, S.N. Zhang, Phys. Lett. B **595**, 28 (2004). arXiv:gr-qc/0407045
- M. do Carmo, *Riemannian Geometry, Mathematics* (Birkhäuser, Boston, 1992). (ISBN 9783764334901)
- 187. A. Ishihara, Y. Suzuki, T. Ono et al., Phys. Rev. D 94(8), 084015 (2016)
- M. Jaroszynski, A. Kurpiewski, Astron. Astrophys. 326, 419 (1997). arXiv:astro-ph/9705044
- 189. C. Bambi, Astrophys. J. 761, 174 (2012). arXiv:1210.5679

- 190. L. Chakhchi, H. El Moumni, K. Masmar, Phys. Rev. D 105, 064031 (2022)
- 191. X.-M. Kuang, A. Övgün, Ann. Phys. **447**, 169147 (2022). arXiv:2205.11003
- B.P. Abbott et al., LIGO Scientific, Virgo. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 061102 (2016). arXiv:1602.03837
- 193. B.F. Schutz, C.M. Will, Astrophys. J. Lett. 291, L33 (1985)
- 194. S. Iyer, C.M. Will, Phys. Rev. D 35, 3621 (1987)
- 195. R.A. Konoplya, Phys. Rev. D **68**, 024018 (2003). arXiv:gr-qc/0303052
- R.A. Konoplya, A. Zhidenko, Rev. Mod. Phys. 83, 793 (2011). arXiv:1102.4014
- 197. V. Cardoso, A.S. Miranda, E. Berti, H. Witek, V.T. Zanchin, Phys. Rev. D 79, 064016 (2009). arXiv:0812.1806
- 198. R.A. Konoplya, Z. Stuchlík, Phys. Lett. B 771, 597 (2017). arXiv:1705.05928
- 199. K. Glampedakis, H.O. Silva, Phys. Rev. D 100, 044040 (2019). arXiv:1906.05455
- 200. M.S. Churilova, Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 629 (2019). arXiv:1905.04536
- H. Kodama, A. Ishibashi, Prog. Theor. Phys. 110, 701 (2003). arXiv:hep-th/0305147
- V. Ferrari, L. Gualtieri, Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 40, 945 (2008). arXiv:0709.0657
- 203. R.B. Magalhães, L.C.S. Leite, L.C.B. Crispino, Eur. Phys. J. C 80, 386 (2020). arXiv:2005.04515
- 204. M.A.A. Paula, L.C.S. Leite, L.C.B. Crispino, Phys. Rev. D 102, 104033 (2020). arXiv:2011.08633
- 205. H.C.D. Lima, C.L. Benone, L.C.B. Crispino, Phys. Lett. B 811, 135921 (2020). arXiv:2011.13446
- 206. P. Boonserm, T. Ngampitipan, P. Wongjun, Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 330 (2019). arXiv:1902.05215
- 207. S.V.M.C.B. Xavier, C.L. Benone, L.C.B. Crispino, Eur. Phys. J. C 81, 1127 (2021). arXiv:2112.12865
- M.G. Richarte, E.L. Martins, J.C. Fabris, Phys. Rev. D 105, 064043 (2022). arXiv:2111.01595
- 209. Q. Li, C. Ma, Y. Zhang, Z.-W. Lin, P.-F. Duan, Eur. Phys. J. C 82, 658 (2022)
- 210. C.Y. Cardall, G.M. Fuller, Phys. Rev. D 55, 7960 (1997). arXiv:hep-ph/9610494
- N. Fornengo, C. Giunti, C.W. Kim, J. Song, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 70, 264 (1999). arXiv:hep-ph/9711494
- 212. H.J. Mosquera Cuesta, G. Lambiase, J.P. Pereira, Phys. Rev. D 95, 025011 (2017). arXiv:1701.00431
- L. Mastrototaro, G. Lambiase, Phys. Rev. D 104, 024021 (2021). arXiv:2106.07665
- 214. G.M. Fuller, Y.-Z. Qian, Nucl. Phys. A **606**, 167 (1996). arXiv:astro-ph/9611126
- S. Wanajo, Y. Sekiguchi, N. Nishimura, K. Kiuchi, K. Kyutoku, M. Shibata, ApJL 789, L39 (2014)
- 216. M. Dvornikov, Eur. Phys. J. C 80, 474 (2020). arXiv:2006.01636
- 217. Y.N. Obukhov, A.J. Silenko, O.V. Teryaev, Phys. Rev. D 80, 064044 (2009). arXiv:0907.4367
- 218. L. Liu, L. Prokopec, Phys. Lett. B 769, 281 (2017)
- 219. G. Lambiase, L. Mastrototaro (2022). arXiv:2205.09785